REGULAR MEETING OF
CITY COUNCIL
In OPEN WORKSHOP SESSION
Notice is hereby given of the following Regular Meeting of Council:
May 30, 2016 at 1:00 p.m.
Council Chamber, City Hall

AGENDA
For On-Table additions, see item 1a and 1b
Call to order.
ADDITIONS TO THE AGENDA
Urgent/time sensitive matters only
Motion to Add or Delete Items from Agenda.
The Consent Agenda - Council members may adopt in one motion all
recommendations appearing on the Consent Agenda or, prior to the vote, request
an item be removed from the Consent Agenda for debate or discussion, voting in
opposition to a recommendation, or declaring a conflict of interest with an item.
MOTION to remove items from the Consent Agenda.
MOTION to approve the recommendations for items remaining in the
Consent Agenda.
PRESENTATIONS
1.

Tourism New Westminster Five-Year Strategic Plan, Salim Hassan,
President and Tej Kainth, Executive Director, Tourism New Westminster,
and Shawna Leung
a) Tourism New Westminster 5 Year Strategic Plan Proposal PowerPoint
Presentation (On-Table)
b) Tourism New Westminster 5 Year Strategic Plan handout (On-Table)
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2.

100 Braid Street: Principles for an Agreement between Urban
Academy and the City for the Community Use of Proposed School
Facilities, Director of Development Services

3.

Joint Municipal Licensing for Film Industry, Councillor Puchmayr,
(Oral Report)

4.

Tree Bylaw, Councillor Puchmayr, (Oral Report)

CONSENT AGENDA
5.

National Aboriginal Day Activities at Anvil Centre, Chief
Administrative Officer

6.

Minutes of April 18, 2016 - Parcel Tax Review Panel, City Clerk

7.

Minutes of April 25, 2016 - Public Hearing, City Clerk

8.

Minutes of April 25, 2016 - Regular, City Clerk

9.

Report on Major Purchasing Transactions for the Period January 1 to
April 30, 2016, Director of Finance and Information Technology

10.

2015 Statement of Financial Information, Director of Finance and
Information Technology

11.

Investment Repot to April 30, 2016, Director of Finance and Information
Technology

12.

Street Food Vending at Westminster Pier Park, Director of Parks and
Culture

13.

Proposed Widening of Blackley Street, Director of Engineering

Correspondence
14.

Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure letter dated May 10,
2016 Regarding Uber and Transportation Network Companies

ITEMS REMOVED FROM THE CONSENT AGENDA
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CORRESPONDENCE
15.

Correspondence for Action
Motion to receive and refer the following correspondence to staff for
consideration and response:
a. Ms. Davies email dated May 10, 2016 regarding Provincial Medical
Cannabis Proposal

ADJOURNMENT
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There is no Report with this Item.
Please see Attachment(s).

ON TABLE
Open Workshop
May 30, 2016
Re: Item 1

Tourism New Westminster
5 Year Strategic Plan Proposal

What We’ve Been Doing
Current Programs and Initiatives
 Destination Development



Brand Awareness & Hosting
Product Development




Digital Media
Visitor’s Guide & Community Map




Year Round Visitor Centre
Roaming Ambassadors

2

 Marketing and Communications
 Visitor Services

5-Year Strategic Plan Proposal
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Where We Are At

 Background & MRDT Status

 Strategic Planning Process

 Key Learning's & Themes

 Goals

5-Year Strategic Plan Proposal
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Where We Are Going

New Direction

 10+ Strategic Priorities
 Current vs Proposed Budget

5-Year Strategic Plan Proposal
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Where We Are Going
Destination Development Strategy

 Travel Media Relations
 Product Development
 Themed Itineraries ie Waterfront, Culinary,
Heritage etc
 Meeting and Event Planners Guide and
Sponsorship Fund ie Host City
 Research
5-Year Strategic Plan Proposal
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Where We Are Going
Marketing & Communication Strategy







Annual Content Plan
Website refresh
Digital Marketing
Packaging Experiences
Integrated Marketing Campaigns & Co-op Programs

5-Year Strategic Plan Proposal
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Where We Are Going
Visitor Services Strategy
 Info On the Go Program

 Welcome Packages

 Digital Kiosks

5-Year Strategic Plan Proposal
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Current vs Proposed Budget
Current

Proposed

City of New Westminster

$100,000

$150,000

Hotel Tax

$0

$150,000

Other Grants/Co-op
Programs

$100,000

$150,000

REVENUE

$200,000

$450,000

Destination Development

$21,300

$50,000

Marketing/Communication $55,500

$200,000

Visitor Services

$14,850

$50,000

Operations/Admin

$108,350

$150,000

EXPENSES

$200,000

$450,000
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Where We Are Going

Moving Forward…
 Receive CNW input to finalize Strategic Plan and Vision
 Discuss funding options from City of New Westminster

 Submit Application for collection of 3% MRDT (Sept 2016)

5-Year Strategic Plan Proposal
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Thank You!

5-Year Strategic Plan Proposal

10

There is no Report with this Item.
Please see Attachment(s).

REPORT
Development Services
To:

Mayor Coté and Members of Council
in Open Council Workshop

Date:

5/30/2016

From:

Beverly Grieve
Director of Development Services

File:

OCP00014,
REZ00125
177/2016

Item #:
Subject:

100 Braid Street: Principles for an Agreement between Urban Academy
and the City for the Community Use of Proposed School Facilities

RECOMMENDATION
THAT Council endorse the attached principles and direct staff to finalize an
agreement between Urban Academy and the City for community access to the
proposed school facilities prior to final adoption of the proposed OCP Amendment
and Rezoning Application for 100 Braid Street.

PURPOSE
The purpose of this report is to provide Council with guiding principles that would form the
basis of an agreement between Urban Academy and the City in regards to community access
to the proposed school facilities at 100 Braid Street.
BACKGROUND
Urban Academy, in partnership with Wesgroup, have submitted an OCP Amendment and
Rezoning application for the purposes of facilitating the development of a 60,000 sq. ft.
(5,570 sq.m.) school and 202,900 sq.ft. (18,850 sq.m.) of residential density at 100 Braid
Street. The OCP amendment would change the land use designation of the property from the
existing industrial-based Mixed Use Designation (MU) to a new Mixed Use designation that
allows for institutional and residential uses on site. The Rezoning application would rezone
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the subject property from Light Industrial Districts (M-1) to a new Comprehensive
Development (CD) Zone.
As part of the proposal, Urban Academy has offered to allow for the community use of the
proposed school facilities. A letter of intent has been provided (see Attachment 1) and the
applicants have been working with the City staff on the development of guiding principles
which will form the basis for a future agreement between Urban Academy and the City for
community access to the proposed school facilities (see Attachment 2). This agreement will
be finalized prior to final approval of the proposed OCP Amendment and Rezoning
Application.
At the May 2, 2016 Land Use and Planning Committee, there was a discussion held by
Committee members in regards to the City entering into an agreement with Urban Academy
for the community use of the proposed school facilities. Previously, it was outlined by the
applicant that this space be made available through an open arrangement where potential
users, including the City, could approach Urban Academy directly regarding use of the
proposed school facilities with Urban Academy being the operator. However, given the
unique position of the City as a service-provider of a wide range of programs and services, it
was recommended that there be a more formal arrangement between Urban Academy and
the City, with the former continuing to operate the site and City still being a user. The City
is unique from other users primarily given the wide number of programs and services that are
offered to the community and the need for consistent access to facilities. Urban Academy
would still provide for other community groups and organizations to use the proposed school
facilities under separate user agreements.
The proposal was brought forward at the May 2, 2016 Regular Meeting of Council for 1 st
and 2 nd Readings and to schedule a Public Hearing for May 30 th . Since then, Urban Academy
has been working with staff from the Parks and Recreation department on developing a set of
guiding principles that will form the basis of an agreement for the Community of the
proposed school facilities, with the City being a user.
DISCUSSION
The guiding principles that have been attached (see Attachment 2) address some of the key
items that will need to be taken into consideration for the City’s agreement with Urban
Academy regarding community access to the proposed school facilities at 100 Braid Street.
These guiding principles have been developed through collaborative process between Urban
Academy and Parks and Recreation staff. These guiding principles are intended to address
key considerations such as:
 Successful operation of the school and student programs;
 Provision of first right of refusal to the City for space and times;
 Guidelines surrounding fee structure;
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 Reciprocal use of City parks and recreation facilities for Urban Academy;
 Establishment of user criteria to protect school safety and property;
 Provisions for the periodic review of the agreement to ensure that it best continues to
meet the needs of Urban Academy and the community;
 Mechanism for dispute resolution; and
 Communication plan (booking website, information webpage) to encourage
community groups to use facilities as time and space is available.
Art Gallery/Studio Proposal
In addition to the community use of the proposed school facilities, the applicants (Wesgroup)
will be providing a 4,300 sq.ft. art gallery/studio space that will be made available for lease
to community arts organizations, non-profits, or other organizations at an affordable rate.
This space (as well as leasing rate) will be secured through a covenant on the property prior
to final approval of the proposed OCP Amendment and Rezoning.
INTERDEPARTMENTAL LIAISON
The Parks and Recreation and Development Services departments worked together to
establish these guiding principles.
OPTIONS
The following options are presented for Council’s consideration:
1. That Council endorse the attached principles and direct staff to finalize an agreement
between Urban Academy and the City for community access to the proposed school
facilities prior to final adoption of the proposed OCP Amendment and Rezoning
Application for 100 Braid Street.
2. That Council provide staff with alternative direction.
Staff recommends Option 1.

ATTACHMENTS
Attachment 1: Letter of Intent for Community Use of School Facilities and Programs
Attachment 2: Guiding Principles for Community Access to Proposed Urban Academy
School Facilities
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This report has been prepared by
Rupinder Basi, Senior Planner

This report was reviewed by
Jackie Teed, Manager of Planning

Approved for Presentation to Council

Beverly Grieve
Director of Development Services
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Attachment 1
Letter of Intent (LOI) - Community Use of
proposed Urban Academy Facilities and
Programs - 100 Braid Street

Urban Academy
Community Use of School Facilities
Urban Academy is proposing a modern, purpose‐built urban school for the 100 Braid St. site. The planned
school will have new facilities that will accommodate a school enrollment of 450 students at full build‐
out, Junior Kindergarten to Grade 12. The school is seeking a permanent home in New Westminster and
the opportunity to become part of a neighbourhood, giving back to the community that has hosted it for
15 years. Urban Academy has taken part in many New Westminster community activities and traditions
that have allowed the school to make many valued connections in the City.
The new school offers UA the chance to share its space with our neighbourhood. The school has an active
extra‐curricular and co‐curricular program however, there is still considerable time throughout the week
and the school year overall, when amenity space is not being used. It is possible for that space to be
available to interested community groups. Use of school space in off‐school hours is common in many
communities and opening up the space in the school during evening or available weekend times may be
of interest to our neighbours.

The Gym
A full‐size gymnasium is being planned with
the capacity for full court basketball, volleyball
and badminton as well as many other
activities and games. The gymnasium will host
Urban Academy’s growing athletics program
and offer additional recreational space on the
site for students. The gymnasium is an
example of a community amenity that would
be open to community groups to book during
times when the school is not using it. Groups
that may be interested in regular times to play
league basketball, badminton or volleyball
would be most welcome to book through the
user group process that will be developed,
similar to other school communities.

The Multi‐Purpose and Meeting Spaces
UA is designing a large multi‐purpose room, drama space and a music room on the ground floor adjacent
to the front entrance of the school.

Such spaces could provide meeting space for groups who wish to book
the school space for an activity or an event.
Finding safe, accessible meeting space can be a challenge for smaller
community groups, particularly not‐for‐profit organizations. Urban
Academy could provide such an amenity for a wide variety of groups
for regularly scheduled use or individual events. Classes and clubs for
all ages; youth, adults and seniors, may find the facilities a match for
their needs and interests.

Out of School Care
Urban Academy has an established, excellent Out of School Care program for school‐age children,
including Junior Kindergarten students. Space and licensing provisions are being planned for the
proposed school on Braid St. as well. Space in the program could be made available for families in the
neighbourhood if it can meet their needs. The care is provided year‐round so local families may find this a
good fit for summer daycare when school is out and child care can be challenging to arrange for the short
term period of the summer months.

After School and Summer Programming
Urban Academy has a long had the practice of offering Summer Camps to students on a wide variety of
topics: Technology, Robotics, Cooking, Musical Theatre, Dance and Photography are just a few examples.
Summer Camp can be open to children in the local community to register alongside UA students, a
wonderful opportunity over the summer holidays. The school will, in its Letter of Intent, consider
contracted services for such programs or offer to partner with the City of New Westminster to provide
programming that would be of interest to the community.

Letter of Intent
Urban Academy wants to be a good neighbour and contribute in positive and constructive ways to the
community. Care and thought is going into the design of the school, the provision of space that the
community could access and a safe plan for traffic and parking. While the design and look of schools is
changing rapidly, their role in communities is very much the same. Schools and children’s needs at
school are important aspects of family and community life. Urban Academy has been part of New
Westminster for 15 years. Many UA families live in Sapperton, as well as other neighbourhoods in New
Westminster. This is their home. UA families want to make the new school work for this community as
well as the school community. Urban Academy hopes to become a part of this neighborhood and looks
forward to a rewarding and successful partnership in Sapperton.

The school is providing a Letter of Intent on the community use of space in the new school that outlines
the guiding principles as well as intended procedures and approvals. The Letter of Intent has been
approved by the Board of Directors of Urban Academy and forms part of the plan for the school to be
developed on the site and to partner with the community and the neighbourhood of Sapperton. The
Letter of Intent provides the basis of the conditions precedent in a User Agreement to be developed as
well as any contracted services or partnership with the City for programming once the school is built.

Letter of Intent
Community Use of Space at Urban Academy
March 30, 2016

Purpose
The purpose of this Letter of Intent on the community use of space at the newly proposed Urban
Academy School is to outline the considerations and terms by which amenity space and programming
opportunities in the completed school can be accessed by members of the community of New
Westminster, particularly those who are neighbours to the new school in Sapperton. Urban Academy
actively uses parks and community facilities in the same manner as other schools in New Westminster
and welcomes the opportunity to open its doors to the community in return.
Background
Urban Academy is proposing to construct a new and purpose‐built school at 100 Braid St. in the
Sapperton neighbourhood of New Westminster. The new and expanded school will offer the UA school
community a facility to accommodate its growing enrollment as well as bring the school back together in
one location. The school is seeking a permanent home in New Westminster and the opportunity to be a
partner in its new neighbourhood. The new school offers the opportunity of access to school amenity
space by community members at times when the school is not in session or not using the facility.
Interested community groups may wish to book the space on a regular basis or for individual events
where the space suits the needs of the user group. It is also possible to explore programming
opportunities in the school that could benefit both Urban Academy and the community. Services such as
summer day care and summer camp programming would benefit both UA families as well as citizens of
New Westminster who might be interested in registering and participating in such programs. After
school and evening recreational programming offered through the City of New Westminster or private
contractors for citizens of all ages are also opportunities that the school would like to offer as part of
joining this neighbourhood.
Guiding Principles





The Urban Academy Board of Directors encourages the use of school facilities by the community
in order to assure a close relationship between the school and the larger community of New
Westminster.
The Board’s first responsibility is to ensure that the school facilities meet the needs of students
and school programs during daytime periods, and such evening, weekend, holiday and summer
periods as may be required.
Preference of user groups to access the space will be given to educational, recreational,
community service and cultural activities. User groups in these categories from the Sapperton
neighbourhood will be given preference over other neighbourhoods when applying to book
space. User groups are those outside of the school community providing a service or program
for New Westminster community members or private guests. The school shall have the right and






the responsibility to approve or decline user group applications as determined by the needs of
the school.
Access to the school’s amenities is intended to open space to as many interested community
groups to meet and conduct their activities as the space and availability will allow. User group
applications will be reviewed and considered individually. The provision of community use in the
school is not intended as a long‐term rental arrangement to organizations that require their own
permanent facility.
A graduated fee schedule will be reflected in user group agreements with not‐for‐profit
organizations, educational, recreational, community service and cultural activities being charged
a lesser fee than a private user group or one with a commercial purpose.
User groups shall abide by and conform to the regulations issued from time to time by the
school and any City by‐laws applicable to the management of the building and the safety of
students, staff, community members and user groups.

Terms of the Agreement










The school shall have priority over the school amenity space and rentals for the purposes of
educational programming, school community uses and the functions of the Urban Academy
Society. The school will publish a yearly calendar of amenity space available for interested user
groups. A process and a user group agreement will be created for rentals so that safety, liability
protection and enjoyment of the amenities is assured. The Board of Directors of Urban Academy
will administer a policy governing the community use of space in the school and expressing their
commitment to make amenity space available. The Board policy and a user group agreement
will be in place in a timely manner once the school is constructed and in operation.
Amenity spaces most commonly available will include but may not be limited to; the
gymnasium, multi‐purpose room, drama classroom and meeting space in selected classrooms.
Any specialty space that is rented will be subject to conditions on its use and care and will be
reflected in the graduated fee schedule. Roof decks and play spaces will not be available
through the access to the community space provisions of the agreement or the rental process or
policy.
The agreement for community space by user groups will be limited, non‐exclusive, non‐
assignable and revocable and is permission to use the school space designated for the purposes
and times agreed upon. It will contain provisions to outline damages, access, permissible
activities, insurance, indemnification and supervision.
The person in charge of the rental user group is responsible for the participants and will need to
ensure adequate supervision for users’ safety and enjoyment. The person in charge will accept
responsibility to fulfill the terms of the user agreement.
Before and After School Care space in the school’s licensed childcare program may be made
available to interested community members. Summer Day Care for school‐aged children will be
opened to the Sapperton community for interested community members to access during the
weeks it is operational over the summer school holiday. Such provision will continue for as long

as UA offers childcare. It is anticipated that the school will have a fully functioning and active
childcare program for school‐ age children as a central and on‐going part of the services it offers
to its school community.






After school recreational and educational programming for youth, adults and seniors will be
made available through the policy and user group agreement process. Interested contractors
who wish to propose programming for the community in the after school or evening periods on
the available schedule will be able to apply to the school with a plan for their programming and
facility needs.
Urban Academy will invite and welcome a partnership with the City of New Westminster’s Parks
and Recreation Department to offer after school, evening or summer programming for
interested community members in the available amenity space.
Proposals will be welcome from the City of New Westminster Parks and Recreation department
or from private contractors to offer Summer Camps for school‐age children, JK‐ grade 12 in the
school over the summer school holiday. Approval of the programs will be at the school’s
discretion and the Board’s policy on community use will govern the activities. The school
welcomes the opportunity to participate in defining and encouraging programming that is of
interest to the citizens of New Westminster as well as the Urban Academy school community.

Attachment 2
Guiding Principles for Community
Access to Proposed Urban Academy
School Facilities

Guiding Principles for Community Access of Facilities at the new
Urban Academy School
Background
Urban Academy is planning to construct a new purpose‐built school at 100 Braid St. As part of joining the
Sapperton neighbourhood where the site is located, Urban Academy (the Academy) is proposing that
there are facilities within the new school design that could be available to community user groups when
not in use by the school. Urban Academy will work with the City of New Westminster (the City) to craft
the processes guiding access to the facilities in the school for the benefit of the Sapperton neighbourhood
and the greater New Westminster community. The following Guiding Principles will be utilized in
developing the user group process and agreements with the City.

Guiding Principles
1. Urban Academy’s first responsibility is to ensure that the school facilities meet the needs of its
students and school programs during daytime periods and such evening, weekend, holiday and
summer periods as may be required.
2. The City of New Westminster’s Parks, Recreation, and Arts & Heritage programs will have first
right of refusal of space and times available to consider for programming that they would design
and sponsor for the community. The City would fulfill the function of a user group and not an
operator in the school building. Other community groups would be welcome to apply for access
to facilities once the City has discussed with Urban Academy any potential programming needs
in the times and spaces available. Urban Academy will develop a process to prioritize access
amongst user groups other than the City. Where opportunities permit, the Academy and the
City will consider joint programming opportunities at the Academy for the benefit of the
community.
3. Urban Academy will have reciprocal use of City Parks and Recreation facilities during regular
school hours through the process used by other New Westminster schools. Hume Park is
identified as the closest point of access to the Academy however, other park sites and City
recreation facilities may also be available to Urban Academy.

4. The space available to be booked for the City and/or other user groups will be subject a Fee
Schedule to be developed once the Academy is operational with a view to recovering costs for
local community programming and costs plus for commercial uses. A graduated fee schedule
will be developed in order to encourage small, community‐based not for profit groups to access
the Academy.
5. The Academy will develop an outline of the criteria for user group eligibility, appropriate to a
school and the spaces available. The safety of all on the site, the orderly progress of the school
and responsible enjoyment of the facilities will guide the development of the criteria.
6. The Academy will provide the annual calendar for the upcoming school year in a timely manner
in order to expedite reasonable planning on the part of the City and user groups. A
communication plan will be developed using the school’s website to encourage community
groups to book facilities in time and space available.
7. The processes and agreement with the City will be subject to review periodically.
8. Any subsequent agreements between the Academy and the City will contain a mechanism for
addressing disputes between the parties.

REPORT
Office of the Chief Administrative Officer
To:

Mayor Coté and Members of Council
in Open Council Workshop

Date:

5/30/2016

From:

Lisa Spitale
Chief Administrative Officer

File:

05.1035.10

Item #:

183/2016

Subject:

National Aboriginal Day Activities at Anvil Centre

RECOMMENDATION
THAT Council receives this report for information
PURPOSE
The purpose of this report is to provide City Council with an overview of National
Aboriginal Day celebrations occurring at Anvil Centre on June 21, 2016 from 11am to 4pm.
SUMMARY
This report provides details surrounding the planning of National Aboriginal Day activities
in New Westminster as well as a history of National Aboriginal Day celebrations in Canada.
It details the respective visions, mandates and values of the New Westminster Museum and
Archives and Spirit of the Children Society; drawing attention to common objectives to
strengthening Aboriginal identity in the City. It further draws attention to the alignment of
National Aboriginal Day celebrations with the City of New Westminster’s Sustainability
Framework: Envision 2032.
BACKGROUND
On June 21 National Aboriginal Day is celebrating 20 years of strong vibrant cultures and
traditions. This is a day for all Canadians to recognize and celebrate the unique heritage,
diverse cultures and outstanding contributions of First Nations, Inuit and Métis peoples. The
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Canadian Constitution recognizes these three groups as Aboriginal peoples, also known as
Indigenous Peoples.
Although these groups share many similarities, they each have their own distinct heritage,
language, cultural practices and spiritual beliefs.
In cooperation with Indigenous organizations, the Government of Canada chose June 21, the
summer solstice, for National Aboriginal Day. For generations, many Indigenous Peoples
and communities have celebrated their culture and heritage on or near this day due to the
significance of the summer solstice as the longest day of the year.
National Aboriginal Day was first announced in 1996 by then Governor General of Canada,
Roméo LeBlanc, through the “Proclamation Declaring June 21 of Each Year as National
Aboriginal Day”. National Aboriginal Day was the result of consultations and statements of
support for such a day made by various Indigenous groups.





in 1995, the Sacred Assembly, a national conference of Indigenous and nonIndigenous people chaired by Elijah Harper, called for a national holiday to celebrate
the contributions of Indigenous Peoples
also in 1995, the Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples recommended the
designation of a National First Peoples Day
in 1982, the National Indian Brotherhood (now the Assembly of First Nations) called
for the creation of National Aboriginal Solidarity Day

In 2015, upon moving into Anvil Centre, the New Westminster Museum and Archives began
collaborating with the Spirit of the Children Society to present National Aboriginal Day
activities for the City of New Westminster.
EXISTING POLICY/PRACTICE
In 2015, upon moving into Anvil Centre, the New Westminster Museum and Archives began
collaborating with the Spirit of the Children Society to present National Aboriginal Day
activities. Previous to 2015 there have been no activities in the City o f New Westminster
that celebrate National Aboriginal Day.
ANALYSIS / DISCUSSION
New Westminster Museum and Archives (NWMA)
The NWMA is a civic run museum and archives. It preserves, presents and provides access
to the material and documentary culture of the City of New Westminster and its residents.
The guiding principles for the New Westminster Museum and Archives state:
 The New Westminster Museum and Archives will operate with integrity and respect
for the Public Trust endowed upon us by the citizens of New Westminster.
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 The NWMA will be an enlightening, engaging, entertaining and participatory
museum. We will be inclusive in our program and collections development by
linking, and collaborating, with the diverse citizens of New Westminster.
 We will collect, preserve, present and provide easy access to the material and
documentary culture collections and stories of the City of New Westminster. These
will be used throughout the city to inspire and provoke conversations with residents
around our common and uncommon stories.
 The City as a whole will be our collection and our programming will be as diverse as
the City itself; exploring its past, present and future.
 We will strive to be a reliable and relevant source of information about New
Westminster as well as its relationship to BC, Canada and the World. We will provide
context for the City through safe and stimulating experiences that facilitate common
understanding amongst our citizens.
Spirit of the Children Society (SOCTS)
SOCTS is an Aboriginal non-profit society based in New Westminster. They serve families
in the Burnaby, New Westminster, and the Tri-Cities area (Coquitlam, Port Coquitlam, Port
Moody). SOCTS works to empower and strengthen Aboriginal families by providing
support and resources through the programs they offer.
The vision of SOCTS is to ensure the spirit of Aboriginal children and families in our
community is nurtured to love, laugh, play, and achieve their dreams and that their unique
cultural traditions are recognized and valued within a safe, respectful society. The mission of
SOCTS is to ensure The Spirit of the Children Society walks in love, honor and respect to
learn, share our identity, and heal together. The values of the SOCTS mirror the seven
sacred teachings of truth, honesty, courage, love, respect, wisdom and humility.
The missions, mandates and visions of both the NWMA and SOCTS both align in seeking
opportunities to foster respect and understanding around Aboriginal culture in New
Westminster and Canada. According to the 2011 census 3.2% of the City’s population
reported Aboriginal identity. Nationally, Canada’s Aboriginal population is 1.4 million, or,
4.3% of the population. Many of New Westminster’s Aboriginal community have come to
the City from other areas of BC and Canada. Consequently the diversity of Aboriginal
cultural identity in the City is broad.
Activities
National Aboriginal Day Celebrations will be at Anvil Centre and run from 11am through to
4pm. Activities have been developed to provide community experiences that celebrate and
foster common understanding around the diversity of New Westminster’s Aboriginal
community. Current activities planned include:

 Grand entrance followed by welcoming and opening remarks (Chief Larrabee, City of
New Westminster, SOTCS, NWMA)
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 Pow Wow dancing, regalia demonstration, drumming and educational workshops
 hoop dancing

 Traditional storytelling (Musqueam, Kwikwetlem, Kwantlen)

 Dancing (Musqueam and Nisga’a T’s amiks)

 Inter-tribal round dance
 Face Painting

 Salmon and Bannok

 Educational tables for aboriginal service providers.

 Traditional vendors

SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS
The presentation of National Aboriginal Day in the City of New Westminster supports the
following Policy Areas of the City’s Sustainability Framework, Envision 2032:
 Community and Individual Well-being
o The community cares for all of its residents, including those that may be atrisk, marginalized or vulnerable.
o The diversity of the community, including indigenous people and persons of
different abilities, incomes, backgrounds, cultures and lifestyles, is recognized
and valued, which contributes to an inclusive and vibrant community.
o There are opportunities for all residents, including children, youth and seniors,
to be fully engaged in the community, to make a meaningful contribution, and
to be recognized and valued for their contributions.
 Arts, Culture and Heritage
o New Westminster is a multicultural community, where diverse cultures live
together in harmony and share their traditions and experience with others,
contributing to a more vibrant and diverse community.
o The City’s heritage, including a respectful account of New Westminster’s
Aboriginal and post-resettlement history, is celebrated for its social benefits
and for enhancing the character and liveability of the City.
o A wide range of flexible, multi-use facilities are available throughout the City
that provide convenient access to arts and culture for residents and visitors,
whether as practicing artists or as patrons of the arts.
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 Parks & Recreation
o A network of community centres and other facilities, including those made
available through community and regional partners, accommodate a wide
range of recreation, cultural and meeting space needs.
o Park and recreation programs are designed to be inclusive, providing
opportunities for all ages, incomes and household types to participate fully
while accommodating those with special cultural needs and those with mobility
or perceptual challenges.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
Anvil Centre is providing space for National Aboriginal Day activities and the museum and
archives are contributing to the costs of presenting dancers, storytellers and speakers.
Beyond staff and facility costs preliminary costs for this event are $1200 which can be
accommodated within current NWMA operating budgets. In fall 2016 the NWMA will work
with the SOTCS to put through an application to the Department of Canadian Heritage for
Celebrate Canada funds to expand and improve 2017 National Aboriginal Day activities.
OPTIONS
There are two options for Council’s consideration;
1. Receive this report for information; or
2. Provide staff with further direction.
Staff recommends Option 1
This report has been prepared by
Rob McCullough
Manager of Museums and Heritage Services
This report was reviewed by
Approved for Presentation to Council

Lisa Spitale
Chief Administrative Officer

Agenda Item 183/2016

There is no Report with this Item.
Please see Attachment(s).

PARCEL TAX ROLL REVIEW PANEL
Monday, April 18, 2016 at 5:45 p.m.
Council Chamber
City Hall

MINUTES
PRESENT:
Mayor Jonathan Coté
Councillor Bill Harper
Councillor Patrick Johnstone
Councillor Jaimie McEvoy
Councillor Mary Trentadue
Councillor Lorrie Williams
ABSENT:
Councillor Chuck Puchmayr
STAFF:
Ms. Lisa Spitale
Ms. Jan Gibson
Mr. Dean Gibson
Mr. Gary Holowatiuk
Mr. Jim Lowrie
Ms. Bev Grieve
Mr. Philip Lo

- Chief Administrative Officer
- City Clerk
- Director of Parks, Culture and Recreation
- Director of Finance & Information Technology
- Director of Engineering Services
- Director of Development Services
- Council and Committee Clerk

The meeting was called to order at 5:50pm.
BUSINESS
1.

Parcel Tax Roll:
a.
Bylaw No.7671, 2014 – Uptown New Westminster Business Improvement
Area
b.
Bylaw No.7584, 2013 – Lane paving south of Sixth Avenue
c.
Bylaw No.7585, 2013 – Ditch infill a portion of Wood Street, Boyd Street
and Boyne Street and widen a portion of Boyne Street
d.
Bylaw No.7300, 2009 – Lane paving between Fenton Street and Pembina
Street, south of Ewen Avenue
e.
Bylaw No.7218, 2008 – Downtown New Westminster Business
Improvement Area (Secondary Area)
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f.
g.
h.
i.

Bylaw No.7217, 2008 – Downtown New Westminster Business
Improvement Area (Primary Area)
Bylaw No.7150, 2007 – Lane paving Second Street
Bylaw No.6605, 2000 – Queensborough specified area, stage 2 (Sewer)
Statement concerning the number of complaints received (Director of
Finance and Information Technology).
Doug Leahy, Manager of Collection Services, read the statement
concerning the conduct of the meeting and the role of the Parcel Tax Roll
Review Panel, and noted that no complaints have been received.

ii.

Representations from property owner(s).
Mayor Coté called three times for speakers to the Parcel Tax Roll. There
was no response.

iii.

Motion to identify, confirm and authenticate Local Area Service Parcel Tax
Roll.
MOVED and SECONDED
THAT the Local Area Services Parcel Tax Roll be identified, confirmed,
and authenticated.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.

iv.

Signing of certificate.
All members of Council present signed the Parcel Tax Roll Certificate.

ADJOURNMENT
ON MOTION, the meeting was adjourned at 5:53pm.

JONATHAN COTÉ
MAYOR
April 18, 2016
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There is no Report with this Item.
Please see Attachment(s).

PUBLIC HEARING
April 25, 2016 at 6:00 p.m.
Council Chamber
City Hall
PRESENT:
Mayor Jonathan Coté
Councillor Bill Harper
Councillor Patrick Johnstone
Councillor Jaimie McEvoy
Councillor Chuck Puchmayr
Councillor Mary Trentadue
Councillor Lorrie Williams
STAFF:
Ms. Lisa Spitale
Ms. Jan Gibson
Mr. Dean Gibson
Mr. Gary Holowatiuk
Mr. Jim Lowrie
Ms. Bev Grieve
Mr. Jim Hurst
Ms. Lauren Blake

MINUTES

- Chief Administrative Officer
- City Clerk
- Director of Parks and Recreation
- Director of Finance & Information Technology
- Director of Engineering Services
- Director of Development Services
- Planner
- Committee Clerk

The meeting was called to order at 6:02 p.m.
Mayor Jonathan Coté read the statement of procedure regarding the Public Hearing.
BUSINESS
1.

Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 7827, 2016 for 805 Boyd Street
Attachments:
i.
Notice of Public Hearing
ii.
Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 7827, 2016
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Report Author
Development
Services
Clerks

Reports to Council
Meeting/Document/Date
Public Hearing Date
Regular Report, April 4, 2016
April 25. 2016

#
R-2

Minutes Extracts

R-1*

April 25, 2016

**Note: the reports/minutes indicated are not included with this agenda. They can be found at
http://www.newwestcity.ca/city_hall/council_agendas_meetings/public_hearings.php or in the
Development Services Department at City Hall.

Written Submissions
Correspondence Date
Date Received

Name
None to date.

a.

In Support/Opposed /
Concerns

#

Explanation of bylaw and proposed development of the lands (Director of
Development Services)
Bev Grieve, Director of Development Services, summarized the purpose of
proposed Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 7827, 2016.

b.

Statement concerning the number of written submissions received and their
distribution (City Clerk)
There were no written submissions.

c.

Motion to receive submissions
There were no written submissions.

d.

Invitation to those present to address the bylaw
Mayor Coté called for speakers to the application.
Andre Klassen, Maple Ridge Resident, expressed concerns regarding the
proposed automobile repair facility, suggesting that there Queensborough
does not have a lack of automotive services and that there is a lack of “mom
and pop” stores in the area. Mr. Klassen requested that Council provide the
strata units located at 816 Boyd Street additional time to provide an
organized response to the application.
Jim Hurst, Planner, advised that signs regarding the proposal were posted at
the site prior the January 19, 2016 Advisory Planning Commission (APC)
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meeting. Mr. Hurst noted that notices are sent to affected tenants and
property owners for both the APC and Public Hearing meetings, and also
advertised in the Record. Mr. Hurst reported that staff attended the
Queensborough Residents’ Association (QRA) meeting where the
application was presented, and that the QRA expressed support.
Christina Valero, Applicant, advised that the project has been well
received by the New Westminster Design Panel, Land Use and Planning
Committee, Queensborough Residents’ Association, and Advisory Planning
Commission. Ms. Valero noted that the proposed tenant would provide
basic maintenance, and direct customers to local mechanics where
appropriate.
Andre Klassen, Maple Ridge Resident, requested that Council delay a
decision regarding the proposed bylaw for two weeks to allow the strata
units located at 816 Boyd Street additional time to provide an organized
response to the application.
e.

Motion to close the Public Hearing
MOVED and SECONDED
THAT the Public hearing for Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 7827, 2016 be
closed.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.

f.

Motion to refer Bylaw 7827, 2016 to Council for Third Reading and
Adoption
MOVED and SECONDED
THAT Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 7827, 2016 be referred to Council for
third reading and adoption.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.
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ADJOURNMENT OF PUBLIC HEARING
ON MOTION, the meeting was adjourned at 6:20 p.m.

JONATHAN COTÉ
MAYOR
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There is no Report with this Item.
Please see Attachment(s).

REGULAR MEETING OF
CITY COUNCIL
April 25, 2016 at 2:00 p.m.
With immediate adjournment to Closed Meeting
Regular Council reconvenes immediately following
the Public Hearing which begins at 6:00 p.m.
Council Chamber
City Hall

MINUTES
PRESENT:
Mayor Jonathan Coté
Councillor Bill Harper
Councillor Patrick Johnstone
Councillor Jaimie McEvoy
Councillor Chuck Puchmayr
Councillor Mary Trentadue
Councillor Lorrie Williams
STAFF:
Ms. Lisa Spitale
Ms. Jan Gibson
Mr. Gary Holowatiuk
Mr. Dean Gibson
Mr. Jim Lowrie
Ms. Bev Grieve
Ms. Julie Schueck
Ms. Lisa Leblanc
Mr. Jim Luu
Ms. Lauren Blake

- CAO
- City Clerk
- Director of Finance & Information Technology
- Director of Parks and Recreation
- Director of Engineering Services
- Director of Development Services
- Heritage Planner
- Manager of Transportation
- Assistant Manager, Queen’s Park
- Committee Clerk

The meeting was called to order at 6:21 p.m.
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EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC
1.

MOVED and SECONDED
THAT pursuant to Section 90 of the Community Charter, members of the
public be excluded from the Closed Meeting of Council immediately
following the Regular Meeting of Council on the basis that the subject
matter of all agenda items to be considered relate to matters listed under
Sections 90(1)(a), 90(1)(c) 90(1)(i), 90(1)(k) and 90(1)(l) of the Community
Charter:
(a)

personal information about an identifiable individual who holds or
is being considered for a position as an officer, employee or agent of
the municipality or another position appointed by the municipality;

(c)

labour relations or other employee relations;

(i)

the receipt of advice that is subject to solicitor-client privilege,
including communications necessary for that purpose;

(k)

negotiations and related discussions respecting the proposed
provision of a municipal service that are at their preliminary stages
and that, in the view of the council, could reasonably be expected to
harm the interests of the municipality if they were held in public;

(l)

discussions with municipal officers and employees respecting
municipal objectives, measures and progress reports for the
purposes of preparing an annual report under section 98 [annual
municipal report];

Purpose of the meeting:
Personal, property, and negotiations matters
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favor of the motion.
ADJOURNMENT
2.

MOVED and SECONDED
THAT the Regular Council meeting in Open Session be adjourned and
proceed to Closed Session.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.
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RECONVENE TO REGULAR COUNCIL
3.

MOVED and SECONDED
THAT the Regular Council meeting be reconvened immediately following
the Public Hearing in Council Chamber, City Hall.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.

ADDITIONS TO THE AGENDA
Urgent/time sensitive matters only
4.

MOVED and SECONDED
THAT the agenda be approved.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.
MOVED and SECONDED
THAT item 17 be removed from the Consent Agenda; and,
THAT the remaining items in the Consent Agenda be approved.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.

BYLAWS CONSIDERED AT THE PUBLIC HEARING
5.

Zoning Amendment (805 Boyd Street) Bylaw No. 7827, 2016
THIRD READING
ADOPTION
MOVED and SECONDED
THAT Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 7827, 2016 regarding 805 Boyd
Street be given third reading.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.
MOVED and SECONDED
THAT Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 7827, 2016 regarding 805 Boyd
Street be adopted.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.
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ISSUANCE OF DEVELOPMENT PERMIT
6.

Development Permit DPQ00096 for 805 Boyd Street
a. Motion to approve/reject issuance of Development Variance Permit No.
00605
MOVED and SECONDED
THAT the issuance of Development Variance Permit No. 00605 be
approved.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.

OPPORTUNITY TO BE HEARD AND
ISSUANCE OF DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT
7.

Development Variance Permit 00605 for 322 Sixth Avenue
Required notification has been completed.
Attachments:
i.
Copy of Development Variance Permit notice
ii.
Director of Development Services’ report dated April 4, 2016
a.

Name

G. Maier

Motion to receive the following correspondence concerning this
application:
Written Submissions
Correspondence
Date Received
Date

April 19, 2016

April 22, 2016

In
Support/Opposed /
Concerns

#

Support

1

(on-table)

b.

Statement concerning the number of written submissions received
and their distribution (City Clerk)
Jan Gibson, City Clerk, advised that on-table correspondence had
been received in favor of Development Variance Permit 00605 for
322 Sixth Avenue.
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MOVED and SECONDED
THAT the on-table correspondence be received.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.
c.

Invitation to those present to address the application
Rob Johnson, Project Architect, advised that he is available to
answer any questions of Council.

d.

Motion to approve/reject issuance of Development Variance Permit
No. 00605
MOVED and SECONDED
THAT the issuance of Development Variance Permit No. 00605 be
approved.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.

PRESENTATIONS
8.

Queen’s Park Neighbourhood Heritage Conservation: Next Steps,
Director of Development Services
Julie Schueck, Heritage Planner, provided an on-table PowerPoint
presentation regarding the next steps with respect to the Queen’s Park
Neighbourhood Heritage Conservation Group (QPHCG).
In response to questions from Council, Ms. Schueck provided the following
information:
• A photographic inventory could inform the design guidelines and
provide a reference for residents undertaking renovations,
restorations, or building new homes;
• The QPHCG has suggested strict guidelines for materials that can be
used for porches and windows, as well as other elements that can be
viewed from the street, for heritage home alterations; and,
• It has not yet been determined if homes younger than 50 years old
would be affected by a Heritage Control Period (HCP) Bylaw in
Queen’s Park.
Council expressed appreciation for the work of the QPHCG and Ms.
Schueck. Council also expressed support for a HCP Bylaw in Queen’s
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Park, noting that many residents in Queen’s Park have invested in restoring
their homes.
MOVED and SECONDED
THAT staff proceed with the next steps as outlined in the presentation
provided April 25, 2016; and,
THAT staff examine the feasibility of implementing a Heritage Control
Period in Queen’s Park.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favor of the motion.
UNFINISHED BUSINESS
9.

No Items

REPORTS FOR ACTION
10.

Motion on Notice regarding Bus Passes Reinstatement, Councillor
McEvoy (Tabled on March 14, 2016 and April 18, 2016)
Councillor Jaimie McEvoy reported that bus passes for individuals received
disability assistance have increased from $45 per year, to $52 per monthly,
as well as an annual $45 administrative fee.
Discussion ensued, and Council noted that transit is a fundamental element
of a livable city.
MOVED and SECONDED
THAT Council request the Mayor, on behalf of Council, write to the
Minister of Social Development and Social Innovation, copying the
Premier, requesting that the BC Bus Pass benefit and Special
Transportation Subsidy for people with disabilities be reinstated; and,
THAT the following resolution also be forwarded to the Union of British
Columbia Municipalities (UBCM):
WHEREAS transit is a fundamental element of an inclusive and livable
city; and
WHEREAS many individuals with disabilities depend on public transit to
maintain their independence and participate in the community; and
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WHEREAS bus passes for individuals who receive disability benefits have
increased from $45 to $669 per year; and
WHEREAS this increase may mean that individuals with disabilities have to
make difficult choices between meeting their basic living expenses and
continuing to use public transit;
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED
THAT New Westminster City Council requests that the BC Bus Pass benefit
and Special Transportation Subsidy for people with disabilities be
reinstated by the Minister of Social Development and Social Innovation.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.
11.

228 Nelson's Crescent (Second Residential Tower, Brewery District):
Master Development Permit Amendment and Consideration of
Development Permit Issuance, Director of Development Services (Tabled
on April 18, 2016)
Bev Grieve, Director of Development Services, summarized the reported
dated April 25, 2016, regarding a Master Development Permit Amendment
and the consideration of a Development Permit issuance for 228 Nelson’s
Crescent.
Evan Allagretto, Wesgroup, advised that as progress is made on the RCH
expansion, there could be more health related office users seeking office
space.
Discussion ensued, and Council noted that providing additional residential
units prior to the development of office space could attract office tenants.
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MOVED and SECONDED
THAT Council approve the proposed Master Development Permit
Amendment to release future residential phases for the Brewery District;
THAT Council consider issuance of Development Permit application
DPS00040 for 228 Nelson’s Crescent; and,
THAT staff be directed to include a requirement in the upcoming rezoning
of the Brewery District that the balance of the required medically-related
office space be secured in the office component.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.
12.

Qayqayt Elementary School – Transportation Update, Director of
Engineering Services (Tabled on April 18, 2016)
Lisa Leblanc, Manager of Transportation, summarized the report dated
April 25, 2016, regarding the transportation update for Qayqayt Elementary
School.
In response to questions from Council, Ms. Leblanc advised that an
engineering review of the conditions along Royal Avenue indicated that
there are no abnormalities or deficiencies present. Ms. Leblanc suggested
that additional visual cues, such as painted pavement or flags, could be
implemented to identify school zone crossings along Royal Avenue.
Discussion ensued, and Council noted the following comments:
• It was suggested that additional crossing guards could be
implemented at this location;
• The City could discuss potential solutions with the School District;
• The City and New Westminster Police Department could address
unsafe driving practices;
• The expansion of the Agnes Street Greenway could help to address
some of the transportation issues;
• The existing safety practices could be enhanced; and,
• It was suggested that a child pedestrian flag waving program could
place additional responsibility on children.
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MOVED and SECONDED
THAT Council receive the report dated April 25, 2016 for information;
and,
THAT staff report back to Council regarding the ongoing transportation
issues near Qayqayt Elementary School.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.
CONSENT AGENDA
City Clerk
13.

Minutes of March 7, 2016 Regular
MOVED and SECONDED
THAT the March 7, 2016 Regular Council minutes be adopted.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.

14.

Minutes of March 14, 2016 Regular
MOVED and SECONDED
THAT the March 14, 2016 Regular Council minutes be adopted.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.

15.

Minutes of March 29, 2016 Special Regular
MOVED and SECONDED
THAT the March 29, 2016 Special Regular Council minutes be adopted.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.

16.

Minutes of April 4, 2016 Regular
MOVED and SECONDED
THAT the April 4, 2016 Regular Council minutes be adopted.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.
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Director of Finance and Information Technology
18.

2016 Downtown BIA Parcel Tax Bylaw
MOVED and SECONDED
THAT the following bylaws be forwarded to Council for three readings:
• “Downtown New Westminster Business Improvement Area (Primary
Area) Parcel Tax Bylaw No. 7828, 2016.” (Attachment #1)
• “Downtown New Westminster Business Improvement Area (Secondary
Area) Parcel Tax Bylaw No. 7829, 2016.” (Attachment #2)
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.

19.

2016 Uptown New Westminster BIA Parcel Tax Bylaw
MOVED and SECONDED
THAT the attached “Uptown New Westminster Business Improvement Area
Parcel Tax Bylaw No. 7830, 2016” (Attachment 1) be referred to Regular
Council for three readings.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.

20.

2016 Tax Rates Bylaw
MOVED and SECONDED
THAT Tax Rates Bylaw 7831, 2016 (Attachment 1) be forwarded to Council
for three readings.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.

Correspondence
21.

Ministry of Community, Sports and Cultural Development and
Minister Responsible for TransLink letter dated April 8, 2016
regarding transportation and accommodation services in British
Columbia
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MOVED and SECONDED
THAT the correspondence dated April 8, 2016 from the Ministry of
Community, Sports and Cultural Development and the Minister
Responsible for TransLink regarding transportation and accommodation
services in British Columbia be received for information.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.
22.

New Westminster Chamber of Commerce letter dated April 12, 2016
regarding the Metro West, Mobile License Program
MOVED and SECONDED
THAT the correspondence dated April 12, 2016 from the New Westminster
Chamber of Commerce regarding the Metro West, Mobile License Program
be received for information.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.

ITEMS REMOVED FROM THE CONSENT AGENDA
17.

Westminster Pier Park 2015 Food Services Overview
Discussion ensued, and Council questioned if a liquor license has been
considered for the Westminster Pier Park Concession, and requested
information regarding the benefits and disadvantages of providing a liquor
license to the Westminster Pier Park Concession. It was also suggested that
the concession items could be upgraded.
In response to questions from Council, Dean Gibson, Director of Parks and
Recreation, and Jim Luu, Assistant Manager of Queen’s Park, provided the
following information:
• Special Occasion Permits are offered to events that wish to sell
liquor; however, there are currently no liquor sales at community
centres or parks;
• The Westminster Pier Park concession was started with a basic menu
due to the level of equipment available;
• An additional deep fryer is scheduled to be purchased, which could
assist with expanding the menu;
• It is anticipated that a Food Services Coordinator would be hired
and could help to expand the menu;
• Hot drinks do not sell as well as cold drinks, and it is anticipated that
drink variety could expand as demand increases; and,
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• Ice cream service began April 18, 2016 and has been well received.
MOVED and SECONDED
THAT Council receive the report dated April 25, 2016 for information;
THAT staff investigate the potential of a liquor license at the Westminster
Pier Park concession; and,
THT staff continue to investigate new food options to include on the
concession menu.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.
BYLAWS
23.

Downtown New Westminster Business Improvement Area (Primary
Area) Parcel Tax Bylaw No. 7828, 2016
THREE READINGS
MOVED and SECONDED
THAT Downtown New Westminster Business Improvement Area (Parcel
Tax) Bylaw No. 7828, 2016 be given first reading.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.
MOVED and SECONDED
THAT Downtown New Westminster Business Improvement Area (Parcel
Tax) Bylaw No. 7828, 2016 be given second reading.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.
MOVED and SECONDED
THAT Downtown New Westminster Business Improvement Area (Parcel
Tax) Bylaw No. 7828, 2016 be given third reading.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.
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24.

Downtown New Westminster Business Improvement Area (Secondary
Area) Parcel Tax Bylaw No. 7829, 2016
THREE READINGS
MOVED and SECONDED
THAT Downtown New Westminster Business Improvement Area (Parcel
Tax) Bylaw No. 7829, 2016 be given first reading.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.
MOVED and SECONDED
THAT Downtown New Westminster Business Improvement Area (Parcel
Tax) Bylaw No. 7829, 2016 be given second reading.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.
MOVED and SECONDED
THAT Downtown New Westminster Business Improvement Area (Parcel
Tax) Bylaw No. 7829, 2016 be given third reading.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.

25.

Uptown New Westminster Business Improvement Area Parcel Tax
Bylaw No. 7830, 2016
THREE READINGS
MOVED and SECONDED
THAT Downtown New Westminster Business Improvement Area (Parcel
Tax) Bylaw No. 7830, 2016 be given first reading.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.
MOVED and SECONDED
THAT Downtown New Westminster Business Improvement Area (Parcel
Tax) Bylaw No. 7830, 2016 be given second reading.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.
MOVED and SECONDED
THAT Downtown New Westminster Business Improvement Area (Parcel
Tax) Bylaw No. 7830, 2016 be given third reading.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.
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26.

Tax Rates Bylaw No. 7831, 2016
THREE READINGS
MOVED and SECONDED
THAT Tax Rates Bylaw No. 7831, 2016 be given first reading.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.
MOVED and SECONDED
THAT Tax Rates Bylaw No. 7831, 2016 be given second reading.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.
MOVED and SECONDED
THAT Tax Rates Bylaw No. 7831, 2016 be given third reading.
CARRIED.
All members of Council present voted in favour of the motion.

COMMUNITY ANNOUNCEMENTS / ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM
COUNCIL
Councillor Chuck Puchmayr reported that April is Organ Donor Awareness
Month. Individuals can sign up or see if they are currently a donor at
www.transplant.bc.ca.
NEW BUSINESS
There were no items.
NEXT MEETING
May 2, 2016
The proposed Regular Session convenes at 2:00 pm and immediately
adjourns to closed session in Council Chambers on the 2nd Floor at City
Hall; The Regular meeting of Council reconvenes at 6:00 p.m. in the
Council Chamber on the 2nd Floor at City Hall.
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ADJOURNMENT
ON MOTION, the meeting was adjourned at 8:12 p.m.

JONATHAN COTÉ
MAYOR
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REPORT
Finance and Information Technology
To:

Mayor Coté and Members of Council
in Open Council Workshop

Date:

From:

Gary Holowatiuk, CPA, CA
Director of Finance & Information
Technology

File:

Item #:
Subject:

5/30/2016

185/2016

Report on Major Purchasing Transactions for the Period Janaury 1 to
April 30, 2016

RECOMMENDATION
THAT Council receives this report for information.

PURPOSE
The purpose of this report is to provide Council with a list of the City’s major purchasing
transactions for the period from January 1, to April 30, 2016.
POLICY / PAST PRACTICE
The City’s Procurement Policy (Policy) requires staff to report back to Council every four
months on all contracts awarded during the period in excess of $100,000 and all sole source
awards in excess of $50,000.
DISCUSSION
For the four month period ending April 30, 2016 the Purchasing Division was involved in the
preparation and administration of twenty-one (21) competitive bid documents. Also for this
period; the Purchasing Division identified twenty-seven (27) awards, purchase orders, or
change orders that met the parameters of this Report requirement. Of these, fourteen (14)

City of New Westminster

May 30, 2016

2

were competitive contract awards, seven (7) were sole source awards, and six (6) were
change orders to existing contracts (see Attachment).
The sole source awards have been reviewed and meet the requirements of the Policy. In
these instances, the awards were made based on there being only one qualified vendor, time
sensitivity which would negatively impact the project or the work was deemed to be integral
to previously awarded work.
CONCLUSION
The Purchasing Division continues to provide guidance and administration on purchasing
matters to all City Departments through the City’s purchasing model and Procurement
Policy. In accordance with the Policy, staff has prepared this report summarizing the major
purchasing transactions for the period January through April 2016 for Council’s information.
ATTACHMENTS
Attachment #1 - Purchases Greater Than $100,000 and Sole Source Greater Than
$50,000

This report has been prepared by Roy Moulder, Purchasing Manager
Approved for Presentation to Council

Gary Holowatiuk, CPA, CA
Director of Finance & Information
Technology

Agenda Item 185/2016

Lisa Spitale
Chief Administrative Officer

ATTACHMENT #1
MAJOR PURCHASES GREATER THAN $100,000 AND
SOLE SOURCE GREATER THAN $50,000
For the period from
January 1st to April 30th, 2016

REPORT
Finance and Information Technology
To:

Mayor Coté and Members of Council
in Open Council Workshop

Date:

From:

Gary Holowatiuk, CPA, CA
Director of Finance and Information
Technology

File:

Item #:
Subject:

5/30/2016

179/2016

2015 Statement of Financial Information

RECOMMENDATION
THAT Council receives and approves the attached 2015 Statement of Financial Information.

BACKGROUND
Each year the City prepares a Statement of Financial Information (SOFI) in accordance with
Section 2 of the Financial Information Act (FIA). The SOFI report includes a Schedule of
Council Remuneration and Expenses prepared in accordance with Section 168 of the
Community Charter.
FIA Regulation Schedule 1, Section 9(2) states the SOFI report must be approved by Council
and the Financial Officer.
ANALYSIS
Attached are the following:

 Attachment 1 – Management Report

 Attachment 2 – Audited Consolidated Financial Statements

 Attachment 3 – Statement of Financial Information Approval

 Attachment 4 – Schedule of Council Remuneration and Expenses

City of New Westminster

May 30, 2016

 Attachment 5 – Schedule of Employee Remuneration and Expenses
 Attachment 6 – Schedule of Suppliers of Goods or Services
 Attachment 7 – Statement of Severance Agreements
CONCLUSION
In accordance with the Financial Information Act and Community Charter, the City is
required to prepare and approve the SOFI by June 30 th each year. Therefore it is
recommended Council approve the attached 2015 Statement of Financial Information.
ATTACHMENTS
Attachment
Attachment
Attachment
Attachment
Attachment
Attachment
Attachment

#1 - Management Report
#2 - Audited Consolidated Financial Statements
#3 - Statement of Financial Information Approval
#4 - Schedule of Council Remuneration and Expenses
#5 - Schedule of Employee Remuneration and Expenses
#6 - Schedule of Suppliers of Goods and Services
#7 - Statement of Severance Agreements

This report has been prepared by Colleen Ponzini, CPA, CA

Approved for Presentation to Council

Gary Holowatiuk
Director of Finance and Information
Technology

Agenda Item 179/2016

Lisa Spitale
Chief Administrative Officer
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City ofNew Westminster

ATTACHMENT 1
Management Report

"NEW WESTMINSTER
MANAGEMENT REPORT
The consolidated financial statements contained in this Statement of Financial
Information under the Financial Information Act have been prepared by management in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The integrity and objectivity
of the consolidated financial statements is management's responsibility. Management is
also responsible for all the schedules prepared for the Statement of Financial Information,
and for ensuring that the schedules are consistent, where appropriate, with the
information contained in the consolidated financial statements.
Management is also responsible for implementing and maintaining a system of internal
controls to provide reasonable assurance that reliable financial information is produced.
Council is responsible for ensuring that management fulfils its responsibilities for
financial reporting and internal control.
The external auditors, KPMG LLP, conduct an independent examination, in accordance
with generally accepted auditing standards, and express their opinion on the consolidated
Statement of Financial Information fmancial statements. Their examination does not
relate to the other schedules and statements required by the Act. Their examination
includes a re\'iew and evaluation of the corporation's system of internal control and
appropriate tests and procedures to provide reasonable assurance that the financial
statements are presented fairly.
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Lisa Spitale
Chief Administrative Officer
Dated:
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Director of Finance & IT
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City of New Westminster

ATTACHMENT 2

Audited Consolidated Financial Statements

Finanancial Statements of

CORPORATION OF THE
CITY OF NEW WESTMINSTER
Year ended December 31, 2015



KPMG LLP
Metro Tower I
4710 Kingsway, Suite 2400
Burnaby BC V5H 4M2
Canada
Telephone (604) 527-3600
Fax (604) 527-3636

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
To the Mayor and Council
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Corporation of the
City of New Westminster, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
December 31, 2015 and the consolidated statements of operations, changes in net financial assets
and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.
Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors' Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform an audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative
(“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the Corporation of the City of New Westminster as at
December 31, 2015, its consolidated results of operations, its changes in consolidated net financial
assets and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public
sector accounting standards.

Chartered Professional Accountants
April 18, 2016
Burnaby, Canada

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NEW WESTMINSTER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

2015

2015 Budget

(Notes 1(h) and 16)

REVENUE
Municipal Taxation and Other Levies (Note 12)
Utility Rates
Sale of Services
Grants from Other Governments
Contributed Tangible Capital Assets (Note 9(b))
Contributions
Other Revenue (Note 13)
EXPENSES
Police Services
Parks, Culture and Recreation
Fire Services
Development Services
Engineering Services
General Government
Library
Utility Operations
ANNUAL SURPLUS
Accumulated Surplus, beginning of year
ACCUMULATED SURPLUS, end of year

$

69,357,910
69,392,955
13,173,013
3,217,740
15,745,735
11,530,722
182,418,075

$

69,083,413
69,295,934
13,741,994
2,841,173
739,767
14,451,927
16,587,847
186,742,055

2014
$

66,849,406
66,306,021
12,278,643
2,325,916
5,438,402
20,827,533
16,670,911
190,696,832

25,791,600
17,956,521
14,701,589
3,985,765
23,850,670
20,430,773
3,997,582
52,207,537
162,922,037

25,930,235
19,803,095
13,846,652
3,930,163
29,593,941
22,842,910
3,507,858
53,035,000
172,489,854

24,229,337
19,762,405
15,752,770
3,802,547
25,137,570
20,128,208
3,472,715
49,060,194
161,345,746

19,496,038

14,252,201

29,351,086

651,597,776

651,597,776

622,246,690

$ 671,093,814

$

665,849,977

$

651,597,776

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NEW WESTMINSTER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

2015

2015 Budget

(Notes 1(h) and 16)

Annual Surplus

$

19,496,038

$

14,252,201

2014
$

29,351,086

Acquisition of Tangible Capital Assets
Contribution of Tangible Capital Assets
Proceeds from Disposal of Tangible Capital Assets
Amortization of Tangible Capital Assets
Net Loss (Gain) on Disposal of Tangible Capital Assets
(Acquisition) Consumption of Inventory of Supplies
(Acquisition) Consumption of Prepaid Expenses

(66,605,450)
7,900,000
20,420,000
-

(26,139,700)
(739,767)
1,416,843
19,953,583
671,304
(156,718)
(312,563)

(47,192,910)
(5,438,402)
36,556,180
18,490,565
(4,820,398)
259,349
63,491

Increase (Decrease) in Net Financial Assets

(18,789,412)

8,945,183

27,268,961

42,888,420

42,888,420

15,619,459

Net Financial Assets, beginning of year
Net Financial Assets, end of year

$

24,099,008

$

51,833,603

$

42,888,420

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NEW WESTMINSTER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

2015

2014

CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY:
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Annual Surplus
Items not involving cash:
Amortization
Net Loss (Gain) on Disposal of Tangible Capital Assets
Contributed Tangible Capital Assets
Change in non-cash operating items:
Increase in Accounts Receivable
Decrease (Increase) in Due From Other Governments
Increase (Decrease) in Accounts Payable
Increase (Decrease) in Due to Other Governments
Increase in Prepaid Taxes
Increase (Decrease) in Deferred Revenue
Increase in Employee Benefit Plans
Decrease in Land Held for Resale
(Increase) Decrease in Inventory of Supplies
(Increase) Decrease in Prepaid Expenses

$

14,252,201

$

29,351,086

19,953,583
671,304
(739,767)

18,490,565
(4,820,398)
(5,438,402)

(693,409)
4,220,786
1,145,843
1,892,345
884,174
1,782,995
518,117
1,569,000
(156,718)
(312,563)
44,987,891

(25,229,347)
(1,552,964)
(7,659,370)
(72,890)
357,195
(326,683)
581,165
259,349
63,491
4,002,797

3,552,642
(1,031,419)
5,085,562
7,606,785

(4,137,184)
(13,293,300)
9,456,233
(7,974,251)

1,416,843
(26,139,700)
(24,722,857)

36,556,180
(47,192,910)
(10,636,730)

(36,187,966)

22,854,433

(DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(8,316,147)

8,246,249

Cash and Cash Equivalents, beginning of year

20,159,319

11,913,070

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Development Cost Charge Net Receipts (Expenditures)
Long-Term Debt Repayments
Proceeds from Issuance of Debt

CAPITAL ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from Disposal of Tangible Capital Assets
Cash Used to Acquire Tangible Capital Assets
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net (Purchase) Sale of Investments

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of year

$

11,843,172

$

20,159,319

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NEW WESTMINSTER
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015
1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The Corporation of the City of New Westminster (the “City”) is a local government in the Province
of British Columbia. The City prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles for local governments as recommended by the Public
Sector Accounting Board (“PSAB”) of the Chartered Professional Accountants Canada. The
accounting policies of the City include the following:
(a) Basis of Presentation
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of all the funds of the City and
the Library and Police Boards. Inter-fund transactions and balances have been eliminated.
(b) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, highly liquid money market investments and
short-term investments with maturities of less than 90 days at acquisition.
(c) Investments
Bonds are initially recorded at cost, with subsequent annual adjustments to amortize the
difference between the acquisition cost and principal at the due date recorded as an addition
to or reduction of interest revenue. Bonds include reinvested interest and realized capital
gains and losses.
Investments in the Municipal Finance Authority of British Columbia (“MFA”) Pooled
Investment Funds – Intermediate and Bond Funds are recorded at cost plus accrued interest
and realized capital gains and losses. Investment income from these funds includes interest
earned and capital gains or losses realized in the year.
(d) Land Held for Resale
Land held for resale includes properties which are ready and available to be sold and for
which there is a market. They are valued at the lower of cost or expected net realizable
value.
(e) Employee Future Benefits
The City and its employees make contributions to the Municipal Pension Plan.
contributions are expensed as incurred.

These

Sick leave and post-employment benefits also accrue to the City’s employees. The liabilities
related to these benefits are actuarially determined based on service and best estimates of
retirement ages and expected future salary and wage increases. The liabilities under these
benefits plans are accrued based on projected benefits as the employees render services
necessary to earn the future benefits.
(f) Deferred Revenue
Deferred revenue represents licenses, permits, other fees and grants which have been
collected, but for which the related services have not been performed and / or projects have
not been constructed. These amounts will be recognized as revenues in the fiscal year the
services are performed and / or the projects are constructed.
(g) Development Cost Charges
Development cost charges are deferred upon receipt and recognized as revenue only to the
extent used to finance related capital projects.
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CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NEW WESTMINSTER
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(h) Budget
Budget data presented in these consolidated financial statements is based on the City’s Five
Year Financial Plan for the years 2015 – 2019, adopted by Council on April 27, 2015.
(i) Government Transfers
Restricted transfers from governments are deferred and recognized as revenue as the
related expenditures are incurred or the stipulations in the related agreement are met.
Unrestricted transfers are recognized as revenue when received or if the amount to be
received can be reasonably assured.
(j) Non-Financial Assets
Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in
the provision of services. They have useful lives extending beyond the current year and are
not intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations.
(i) Tangible Capital Assets
Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost which includes amounts that are directly
attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset. The
cost, less residual value, of the tangible capital assets, excluding land, are amortized on
a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Major Asset Category

Useful Life

Building

10 - 70 years

Vehicles and Equipment

3 – 50 years

Park Improvements

5 - 80 years

Engineering Structures

15 - 100 years

Electrical Distribution System

5 - 100 years

Annual amortization is charged in the year of acquisition. Assets under construction are
not amortized until the asset is available for productive use.
(ii) Contributions of Tangible Capital Assets
Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair value at the
date of receipt and also are recorded as revenue.
(iii) Works of Art and Historic Assets
Works of art and historic assets are not recorded as assets in these consolidated
financial statements.
(iv) Natural Resources
Horticultural assets such as treed areas, grassy areas and gardens are not recognized as
assets in these consolidated financial statements.
(v) Interest Capitalization
The City does not capitalize interest costs associated with the acquisition or construction
of a tangible capital asset.
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CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NEW WESTMINSTER
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(j) Non-Financial Assets (continued)
(vi) Leased Tangible Capital Assets
Leases which transfer substantially all of the benefits and risks incidental to ownership of
property are accounted for as leased tangible capital assets. All other leases are
accounted for as operating leases and the related payments are charged to expenses as
incurred.
(vii) Inventory of Supplies
Inventories of supplies held for consumption are recorded at the lower of weighted
average cost and replacement cost.
(viii)Prepaid Expenses
Prepaid expenses are recorded as assets in these consolidated financial statements.
(k) Reserves and Reserve Funds
(i) Reserves Set Aside by Council
Reserves set aside by Council are surpluses from the current operations to finance future
capital and maintenance projects. These internally restricted funds are not available for
unrestricted purposes without the approval of Council.
(ii) Statutory Reserves
Statutory reserves are funds that have been internally restricted by Council. Formal
establishing bylaws have been adopted pursuant to the Community Charter, which define
how these reserves are to be used.
(l) Revenue and Expenses Recognition
Revenue is recorded on an accrual basis and recognized when earned. Expenses are
recognized as they are incurred, usually when goods or services have been received and / or
the creation of a legal obligation to pay. The City accrues interest expense on long-term debt
to year-end.
(m) Use of Estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the
date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported revenue and expenses during
the reporting period. Significant areas requiring the use of management estimates relate to
the determination of employee benefit plans, allowance for doubtful accounts receivable,
provision for contingencies, and useful lives of tangible capital assets.
Actual results could differ from management’s best estimates as additional information
becomes available. Adjustments, if any, will be reflected in the consolidated financial
statements in the period that the change in estimate is made, as well as in the period of
settlement if the amount is different.
(n) Segment Disclosures
A segment is defined as a distinguishable activity or group of activities of a government for
which it is appropriate to separately report financial information.
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CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NEW WESTMINSTER
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015
1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(o) Liability for contaminated sites
A liability for contaminated sites is recognized when a site is not in productive use and the
following criteria are met:
(i) An environmental standard exists;
(ii) Contamination exceeds the environmental standard;
(iii) The City is directly responsible or accepts responsibility;
(iv) It is expected that future economic benefits will be given up; and
(v) A reasonable estimate of the amount can be made.
The liability is recognized as management’s estimate of the cost of post-remediation including
operation, maintenance and monitoring that are an integral part of the remediation strategy
for a contaminated site.
2. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The City has implemented PSAB section 3260, Liability for Contaminated Sites. The new
standard was applied on a retroactive basis to 2014. Adoption of the standard did not result in
any liabilities to be recorded for contaminated sites.
3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents include $2,574,899 (2014 - $4,034,756) invested in the MFA Pooled
Investment Funds – Money Market Fund, which is considered equivalent to cash due to its
liquidity.
4. INVESTMENTS
Carrying
Value

2015

Market
Value

Carrying
Value

2014

Market
Value

MFA - Intermediate Fund,
2015 Fund Yield – 1.45%
(2014 – 1.33%)

$ 45,890,754

$ 45,649,253

27,855,347

27,726,143

MFA – Bond Fund,
2015 Fund Yield – 2.47%
(2014 – 2.74%)

70,005,726

70,099,944

51,853,167

51,940,375

$115,896,480

$115,749,197

$ 79,708,514 $ 79,666,518
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CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NEW WESTMINSTER
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015
5. DEFERRED DEVELOPMENT COST CHARGES
Balance,
beginning of year
Queensborough Drainage
Queensborough Transportation
Queensborough Parkland
Queensborough Water
Queensborough Sanitary
Mainland Drainage
Mainland Transportation
Mainland Parkland
Mainland Water
Mainland Sanitary

$

$

Third Party
Contributions

4,323,891 $
4,511,294
369,067
732,242
66,249
116,247
400,214
554,367
362,006
(373,305)
11,062,272

$

Interest
Allocation

8,235
251,205
1,106,639
13,895
144,242
67,510
525,397
3,050,693
272,157
451,037

$

5,891,010

$

Capital
Expenses

Balance,
end of year

95,688 $ (228,000) $ 4,199,814
99,835
(1,288,677)
3,573,657
8,167
(369,950)
1,113,923
16,205
762,342
1,466
211,957
2,573
186,330
8,857
(76,601)
857,867
12,268
(619,949)
2,997,379
8,011
642,174
(8,261)
69,471
244,809

$ (2,583,177) $ 14,614,914

6. PENSION PLAN
The City and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan, a jointly trusteed pension
plan. The Board of Trustees, representing plan members and employers, is responsible for
administering the plan, including investment of the assets and administration of benefits. The
plan is a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan. Basic pension benefits are based on a
formula. As at December 31, 2015 the plan has about 185,000 active members and
approximately 80,000 retired members. Active members include approximately 798 contributors
from the City of New Westminster.
Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plan
and adequacy of plan funding. The actuary determines an appropriate combined employer and
member contribution rate to fund the plan. The actuary’s calculated contribution rate is based on
the entry-age normal cost method, which produces the long-term rate of member and employer
contributions sufficient to provide benefits for average future entrants to the plan. This rate is
then adjusted to the extent there is amortization of any funding deficit.
The most recent valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as of December 31, 2012 indicated a
$1,370 million funding deficit for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis.
The City of New Westminster paid $6,635,653 for employer contributions to the plan in fiscal
2015, which represents 0.4% of the total plan contributions. The City of New Westminster
expects to pay $6.7 million for employer contributions in the next fiscal year.
The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2015 with results available in 2016.
Employers participating in the plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer
contributions made during the fiscal year (defined contribution plan accounting). This is because
the plan records accrued liabilities and accrued assets for the plan in aggregate, resulting in no
consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and cost to the individual
employers participating in the plan.
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CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NEW WESTMINSTER
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015
7. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
The City provides certain post-employment benefits, compensated absences, and termination
benefits to its employees. These benefits include accumulated non-vested sick leave and postemployment disability benefits.
2015
2014
Accrued Benefit Obligation, beginning of year
$ 11,838,800 $ 10,306,400
Current service cost
691,000
567,400
Interest cost
271,000
297,000
Long term disability expense
465,200
563,000
Benefits paid
(982,000)
(793,300)
Actuarial (gain) loss
(193,000)
898,300
Accrued Benefit Obligation, end of year
12,091,000
11,838,800
Other employee benefit liabilities
48,168
44,716
Unamortized actuarial loss
(696,199)
(958,664)
Accrued Benefit Liability, end of year
$ 11,442,969 $ 10,924,852
Actuarial gains and losses are amortized over the expected average remaining service period of
the related employee group commencing the year after the gain or loss arises. An update to the
actuarial valuation of the accrued benefit liability was performed to determine the City’s accrued
benefit obligation as at December 31, 2015. Actuarial assumptions used to determine the City’s
accrued benefit obligation are as follows:
2015
2014

Discount rate
Expected future inflation rate
Expected wage and salary range increases
Expected average remaining service period

3.20%
3.10%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00% - 4.63% 3.00% - 4.63%
11.5 years
11.5 years
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CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NEW WESTMINSTER
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015
8. LONG-TERM DEBT
The City receives debt financing through the MFA in accordance with the Community Charter to
finance certain capital expenses. Debt is presented net of $14,157,593 of repayments and
actuarial adjustments.

2015
Police Building, Bylaw 6603, 3.00%, due 2024

$

4,412,707

2014
$

4,796,463

Moody Park Pool, Bylaw 7209, 5.15%, due 2028

2,934,292

3,105,009

Moody Park Pool, Bylaw 7209, 4.50%, due 2030

349,505

366,886

4,936,667

5,296,282

1,699,150

1,799,100

26,000,000

22,700,000

24,800,000

23,014,438

$ 65,132,321

$ 61,078,178

Westminster Pier Park Development Bylaw 7377, 3.65%,
due 2026
Westminster Pier Park Development Bylaw 7377, 2.00%
due 2032
Civic Facilities, Road Maintenance and Park Development
Loan Authorization Bylaw 7528, due 2017 - 2019
New Westminster Substation Loan Authorization Bylaw
7604, 2.20% due 2035 (a)

(a) In 2015, the City obtained debt financing from MFA in the amount of $24,800,000 to replace a
payable of $23,014,438 to BC Hydro under an agreement which the City had previously entered,
relating to upgrades to the New Westminster Substation.
Estimated repayments on long-term debt for the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

2016 $
2017
2018
2019
2020
Thereafter
$

6,445,367
5,017,509
4,592,533
4,670,563
3,251,722
41,154,627
65,132,321
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CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NEW WESTMINSTER
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015
9. TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS
Engineering Structures

Assets
Under
Construction

Land

Vehicles /
Equipment

Building

Park
Improvements

Engineering
Structures

Water

Sewer

Electrical
Distribution
System

2015
Total

2014
Total

COST
Balance, beginning of year
Transfers
Additions
Disposals
Balance, end of year

$

6,037,493 $
(4,437,883)
8,591,753
10,191,363

198,862,776 $ 152,849,487 $
204,140
28,000
845,838
(81,643)
(38,900)
198,809,133
153,860,565

36,945,694 $
156,083
4,146,250
(4,508,771)
36,739,256

74,619,137
347,390
74,966,527

$

195,960,919 $
3,930,562
5,353,637
(3,601,807)
201,643,311

44,488,249 $
121,101
462,288
(9,062)
45,062,576

76,753,780 $
25,997
4,084,028
(827)
80,862,978

71,734,953 $
3,020,283
(89,490)
74,665,746

858,252,488 $
26,879,467
(8,330,500)
876,801,455

844,560,879
52,631,312
(38,939,703)
858,252,488

93,575,219 $
6,299,036
(2,034,096)
97,840,159

10,096,828 $
615,984
(5,097)
10,707,715

21,279,474 $
1,139,832
(134)
22,419,172

17,330,656 $
1,641,730
(43,463)
18,928,923

251,650,786 $
19,953,583
(6,242,353)
265,362,016

240,364,142
18,490,565
(7,203,921)
251,650,786

611,439,439

ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION
Balance, beginning of year
Amortization
Disposals
Balance, end of year

$

-

$

-

$

54,468,910 $
4,964,371
(38,900)
59,394,381

22,344,734 $
3,154,436
(4,120,663)
21,378,507

32,554,965
2,138,194
34,693,159

$

NET BOOK VALUE
As at December 31, 2015

$

10,191,363

$

198,809,133

$

94,466,184

$

15,360,749

$

40,273,368

$

103,803,152

$

34,354,861

$

58,443,806

$

55,736,823

$

6,037,493

$

198,862,776

$

98,380,577

$

14,600,960

$

42,064,172

$

102,385,700

$

34,391,421

$

55,474,306

$

54,404,297

$

NET BOOK VALUE
As at December 31, 2014

$

606,601,702
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CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NEW WESTMINSTER
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

9. TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS (continued)
(a) Assets under construction
Assets under construction having a value of $10,191,363 (2014 – $6,037,493) have not been
amortized. Amortization of these assets will commence when the asset is put into service.
(b) Contributed tangible capital assets
Contributed capital assets have been recognized at fair market value at the date of
contribution. The value of contributed assets received during the year is $739,767 (2014 –
$5,438,402).
(c) Works of art and historic assets
The City manages and controls various works of art and non-operational historic assets
including buildings, artifacts, painting and sculptures located at City sites and public display
areas. These assets are not recorded as tangible capital assets and are not amortized.
(d) Write-down of tangible capital assets
The write-down of tangible capital assets during the year was $nil (2014 - $nil).
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CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NEW WESTMINSTER
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015
10. ACCUMULATED SURPLUS
Accumulated surplus consists of individual fund surplus and reserves and reserve funds as follows:

Surplus:
Invested in Tangible Capital Assets (a)
Invested in Inventory of Supplies
Invested in Prepaid Expenses
Unrestricted Accumulated Surplus (b)
Reserves:
Reserves set aside by Council:
Affordable Housing
Childcare Amenity
Community Amenity
Community Development
Community Endowment
Computer Replacement
Environment/Childcare Grants
Equipment Replacement
Facility Maintenance
Facility Replacement
General Amenity
General Fund Provisions
Offstreet Parking Provisions
Public Art
Electrical Fund Provisions
Water Fund Provisions
Sewer Fund Provisions
Solid Waste Fund Provisions
Statutory Reserves:
Cemetery Reserve
Construction of Municipal Works
Parking Cash in Lieu
Park Land Acquisition
Tax Sale Land
Total Reserves
Total Accumulated Surplus

2015

2014

$ 562,555,411
1,381,315
1,195,620
229,013

$ 560,508,336
1,224,597
883,057
2,267,294

1,229,757
34,462
2,490,706
10,840,230
5,110,430
1,468,904
200,000
9,189,151
7,951,682
4,248,229
323,775
4,346,945
3,790,617
258,969
15,602,134
7,642,530
12,808,892
(559,895)
606,207
9,374,080
1,044,372
857,980
1,628,461
100,488,618
$ 665,849,977

933,720
72,850
2,453,259
12,216,929
5,135,114
1,235,213
200,000
10,193,290
7,251,753
2,475,087
316,765
3,733,291
3,846,571
262,990
11,733,350
7,061,280
10,555,606
(670,671)
583,273
3,712,112
1,021,760
797,747
1,593,203
86,714,492
$ 651,597,776

(a) Invested in tangible capital assets is comprised of tangible capital assets of $611,439,439
(2014 - $606,601,702) less net proceeds from debt spent on tangible capital assets of
$48,884,028 (2014 - $46,093,366).

(b) Unrestricted accumulated surplus includes $nil (2014 - $1,569,000) in land held for resale.
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CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NEW WESTMINSTER
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015
11. TRUST FUNDS
The Amateur Sports Promotion and Irving House Bequeaths are not reported in these financial
statements. The following is a summary of Trust Fund transactions for the year:

2015
Balances, beginning of year
Interest earned
Expenses and Transfers (Net)
Balances, end of year

$

$

2014

379,506 $
8,398
387,904
(629)
387,275 $

370,329
8,516
378,845
661
379,506

12. MUNICIPAL TAXATION AND OTHER LEVIES
Taxation revenue for general municipal purposes comprises of the following amounts:
2015

%

2014

%

$ 109,382,353 100.00 $ 106,299,559 100.00

Total Taxation and Levies
Less: Collections on Behalf of Other Governments
Regional District
BC Assessment Authority
Municipal Finance Authority
Province - School
South Coast British Coloumbia Transportation Authority
Business Improvement Levies
Municipal Taxation and Levies

960,831
1,006,483
3,221
31,755,922
6,254,883
317,600
40,298,940
$ 69,083,413

0.88
959,767
0.92
992,439
< 0.01
3,054
29.03
30,947,508
5.72
6,229,785
0.29
317,600
36.84
39,450,153
63.16 $ 66,849,406

0.90
0.93
< 0.01
29.11
5.86
0.30
37.11
62.89

13. OTHER REVENUE
Other Revenue includes:

Licences, Permits and Fines
$
Interest and Penalties
Gain on Asset Disposals
Gain on Sale of Land Held for Resale
Other
Total Other Revenue
$

2015
5,726,008 $
3,044,356
1,234,567
2,285,663
4,297,253
16,587,847 $

2014
4,224,956
2,781,683
6,825,520
2,838,752
16,670,911
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CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NEW WESTMINSTER
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015
14. CONTINGENCIES
(a) The loan agreements with the Greater Vancouver Regional District and the MFA provide that,
if at any time the scheduled payments provided for in the agreements are not sufficient to
meet the Authority’s obligations in respect of such borrowing, the resulting deficiency
becomes a joint and several liability of the City and the other participants.

(b) The City obtains long-term debt instruments through the MFA. The City is also required to
execute demand notes in connection with each debenture whereby the City may be required
to loan certain amounts to the MFA. The demand notes are contingent in nature and are not
reflected in the accounts. Details of the contingent demand notes at December 31, 2015 are
as follows:
2015
2014

Police Building, Bylaw 6603
Moody Park Pool, Bylaw 7209
Westminster Pier Park, Bylaw 7377
New Westminster Substation, Bylaw 7604

$

233,776
142,759
253,681
463,277
$ 1,093,493

$

$

233,776
142,759
253,681
630,216

(c) A number of legal claims have been initiated against the City in varying or unspecified
amounts. The outcome of these claims cannot reasonably be determined at this time. The
amount of loss, if any, arising from these claims will be recorded in the period in which the
loss is determined.
(d) In 2003, the City experienced a failure of the Stanley Street Pump Station due to design and
construction flaws. The City anticipates that the costs incurred for damages, response,
remediation and reconstruction will be collected from the City’s insurer and other third parties
responsible for the original design and construction of the pump station. In 2008, the City
settled its claim with its insurer and continues to pursue claims against other third parties.
Due to the contingent nature of this amount, no recovery or receivable has been recorded in
these financial statements.
(e) The City is a shareholder of Emergency Communications for the Southwest British Columbia
Incorporated (E-Comm) whose services include: regional 9-1-1 call centre for the Greater
Vancouver Regional District; Wide Area Radio network; dispatch operations; and records
management. The City has one Class A share and one Class B share and the Police Board
has one Class A share. There are 28 Class A shares and 23 Class B shares issued and
outstanding as at December 31, 2015. As a Class A shareholder, the City shares in both
funding the future operations and capital obligations of E-Comm (in accordance with a cost
sharing formula), including any lease obligations committed to by E-Comm up to the
shareholder’s withdrawal date.
(f) The City, as a member of the Greater Vancouver Regional District, the Greater Vancouver
Sewerage and Drainage District and the Greater Vancouver Water District is jointly and
severally liable for the net capital liabilities of these Districts. Any liability which may arise as
a result of the above noted contingency will be accounted for in the period in which the
required payment is made.
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CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NEW WESTMINSTER
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015
14. CONTINGENCIES (continued)
(g) In January 2012, the City entered into an operating agreement with BC Hydro for the New
Westminster Substation. Under the terms of the agreement, the City would have to
reimburse BC Hydro for its transmission system reinforcement costs incurred to provide
additional electricity supply to the New Westminster Substation should the City terminate the
agreement prior to BC Hydro recovering these costs through future electricity sales.
15. SEGMENTED INFORMATION
The City is a diversified municipal government institution that provides a wide range of services to
its citizens, including Police Services, Parks, Culture and Recreation Services, Fire and Rescue
Services, Development Services, Engineering Services, General Government Services, Library,
and Utility Operations which includes Water Supply Services, Electrical Distribution Services,
Sewer and Drainage Services, and Solid Waste Services. For management reporting purposes,
the City’s operations and activities are organized and reported by Service Areas. Service Areas
were created for the purpose of recording specific activities to attain certain objectives in
accordance with regulations, restrictions and limitations.
City Services are provided by departments and their activities are reported in these Service
Areas. Departments disclosed in the segmented information, along with the services they
provide, are as follows:
General Government Services – Legislative Services, Administration, Communications,
Finance, Information Technology, Human Resources, Legal Services, Economic
Development, Grants in Aid, City Functions, and Strategic Priorities
The Departments and Divisions within General Government Services are responsible for adopting
bylaws; adopting administrative policy; levying and collecting taxes and utilities; acquiring,
disposing and managing City assets; developing and maintaining information technology systems
and applications; ensuring effective financial management and communication; administering
City grants; managing the Anvil Centre; developing an effective labour force; administering
collective agreements and payroll; economic development; monitoring and reporting
performance; and ensuring that high quality City service standards are met.
Police Services
The mandate of Police Services is to keep the community safe by enforcing the law, and by
preventing and reducing crime.
Parks, Culture and Recreation Services
Parks, Culture and Recreation is responsible for providing, facilitating the development of, and
maintaining high quality parks, recreation facilities and programs, and cultural services.
Library Services
The New Westminster Public Library is responsible for providing library resources and services to
the community.
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CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NEW WESTMINSTER
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015
15. SEGMENTED INFORMATION (continued)
Fire and Rescue Services
The mandate of the Fire and Rescue Services is to protect life, property and the environment
through the provision of emergency response and planning, inspections, code enforcement and
public education, ensuring safety for the public.
Development Services
Development Services is responsible for preparing land use plans, bylaws and policies for
sustainable development of the City, for reviewing and approving new development and building
permits and inspections.
Engineering Services – Engineering Operations and Administration, Cemetery, Parking
and Towing Services, Animal Services, Vehicle Fleet Services, Works Yards
Engineering Services is responsible for planning, building, operating and maintaining the City’s
physical infrastructure including roads and sidewalks, civic buildings and facilities. In addition, the
divisions provide services for parking, towing, cemetery operations, animal control and fleet
services.
Utility Operations - Water Supply Services, Electrical Distribution Services, Sewer and
Drainage Services, and Solid Waste Services
The Water Utility operates and distributes over 8 million cubic meters of drinking water, and
maintains water mains and pump stations. The Electrical Distribution Utility is responsible for the
distribution of electricity to the City’s citizens and businesses. The Sewer and Drainage Utility is
responsible for the disposal of sanitary sewage and drainage, as well as the network of sewer
mains, storm sewers and pump stations. The Solid Waste Utility is responsible for garbage
collection, green waste collection and recycling.
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CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NEW WESTMINSTER
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015
15. SEGMENTED INFORMATION (continued)
SEGMENTED REVENUES AND EXPENSES
General
Government

Police
Services

REVENUE
Taxation
Utility Rates
Sale of Services
Grants from Other Government
Contributed Tangible Capital Assets
Contributions
Other Revenue
Total Revenues

$ 69,083,413
234,684
157,732
28,000
7,302,793
9,104,602
$ 85,911,224

$

EXPENSES
Salaries, Benefits and Training
Contracted Services
Supplies and Materials
Interest and Bank Charges
Cost of Sales
Grants
Insurance and Claims
Utility Purchases and Levies
Amortization
Loss on Disposals
Total Expenses

$ 11,417,995
2,250,407
2,060,586
795,366
891,909
864,273
920,791
3,609,434
32,149
$ 22,842,910

$ 20,548,789
3,345,889
980,788
21,542
991,938
41,289
$ 25,930,235

ANNUAL SURPLUS

$ 63,068,314

Parks, Culture
& Recreation

Fire
Services

Library

Development
Services

Engineering
Services

Utility
Operations

2015

2014

2015 Budget

11,762
14,460
8,030
4,309,725
4,343,977

$

3,661,369
1,158,836
374,017
5,263,077
1,870,250
$ 12,327,549

$

69,295,934
851,197
337,750
1,659,436
998,437
$ 73,142,754

$

69,083,413
69,295,934
13,741,994
2,841,173
739,767
14,451,927
16,587,847
$ 186,742,055

$ 66,849,406
66,306,021
12,278,643
2,325,916
5,438,402
20,827,533
16,670,911
$ 190,696,832

$ 69,357,910
69,392,955
13,173,013
3,217,740
15,745,735
11,530,722
$ 182,418,075

$ 10,694,442
6,470,181
3,407,107
357,184
7,028,482
1,636,545
$ 29,593,941

$

$

$

3,299,208
458,496
132,459
40,000
3,930,163

77,929,778
18,600,376
9,464,433
1,068,691
1,172,159
925,815
1,277,975
40,191,173
19,953,583
1,905,871
$ 172,489,854

$ 76,373,516
13,275,597
9,095,221
1,160,528
751,795
615,318
1,231,857
38,346,227
18,490,565
2,005,122
$ 161,345,746

$ 77,765,938
10,478,020
9,376,466
1,577,104
594,057
1,005,000
1,365,814
40,339,638
20,420,000
$ 162,922,037

$ (21,407,936) $ (13,645,735) $ (3,271,906) $ (13,745,712) $

413,814

$

$ 29,351,086

$ 19,496,038

$

3,232,219
1,269,797
20,283
4,522,299

$

$

5,601,901
93,023
218,591
243,845
6,157,360

$ 12,698,742
1,580,142
1,754,357
280,250
3,379,100
110,504
$ 19,803,095

$

$
$

$

88,627
147,325
235,952
2,730,137
92,600
287,029
380,584
17,508
3,507,858

$

$

60,235
40,705
100,940

$ 12,185,400
852,236
201,741
605,288
1,987
$ 13,846,652

$

$
$

4,355,065
3,550,425
640,366
273,325
40,191,173
3,958,757
65,889
$ 53,035,000

$ (17,266,392) $ 20,107,754

14,252,201
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CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NEW WESTMINSTER
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015
16. BUDGET DATA
The reconciliation of the approved budget to the budget figures reported in these consolidated
financial statements is as follows:

Total Approved Revenues:
Less:
Proceeds from Disposals
(Included in Other Revenue)
Total Reported Revenues

$ 190,318,075
7,900,000
182,418,075

Total Approved Expenses
Annual Surplus

162,922,037
$

19,496,038

17. COMMITMENTS
In January 2012, the City entered into an operating agreement with BC Hydro for the New
Westminster Substation. The agreement commits the City to reimburse BC Hydro for all costs
relating to operating, maintaining and upgrading the substation. The initial term of the agreement
was effective until March 31, 2015 with subsequent five-year renewal periods until such time as
either party serves written notice of termination at least one year prior to the end of the current
five-year term. The term of the agreement has automatically been extended for a further fiveyear period, until March 31, 2020.
18. COMPARATIVE FIGURES
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted for the
current year.
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SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE I (UNAUDITED)

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NEW WESTMINSTER
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION - BY FUND
As at December 31, 2015
General
Fund
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Accounts Receivable
Property Taxes
Other
Due from Other Governments
Investments
Land Held for Resale

$

11,843,172

Electrical
Utility Fund

$

-

Water
Utility Fund

$

-

Sewer
Utility Fund

$

-

Solid Waste
Utility Fund

$

-

2015

$

11,843,172

2014

$

20,159,319

2,514,796
32,444,792
14,702,530
115,896,480
-

7,938,157
-

347,101
-

1,122,231
2,201,508
-

153,651
-

2,514,796
42,005,932
16,904,038
115,896,480
-

2,240,666
41,586,653
21,124,824
79,708,514
1,569,000

177,401,770

7,938,157

347,101

3,323,739

153,651

189,164,418

166,388,976

18,534,500
3,383,774
8,189,471
13,593,598
12,928,970
11,442,969
40,332,321
33,911,066

258,521
24,800,000
(11,346,698)

1,404,516
(9,350,562)

2,180,747
281,428
(12,695,638)

(518,168)

20,715,247
3,383,774
8,189,471
13,852,119
14,614,914
11,442,969
65,132,321
-

19,569,404
1,491,429
7,305,297
12,069,124
11,062,272
10,924,852
61,078,178
-

142,316,669

13,711,823

(7,946,046)

(10,233,463)

(518,168)

137,330,815

123,500,556

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS

35,085,101

(5,773,666)

8,293,147

13,557,202

671,819

51,833,603

42,888,420

NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
Tangible Capital Assets
Inventory of Supplies
Prepaid Expenses

457,842,850
261,570
1,195,620

56,972,544
991,386
-

36,602,796
98,102
-

59,142,576
30,257
-

878,673
-

611,439,439
1,381,315
1,195,620

606,601,702
1,224,597
883,057

459,300,040

57,963,930

36,700,898

59,172,833

878,673

614,016,374

608,709,356

1,550,492

$ 665,849,977

$ 651,597,776

LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable
Due to Other Governments
Prepaid Taxes
Deferred Revenue
Deferred Development Cost Charges
Employee Benefit Plans
Long-Term Debt
Due to/(from) Other Funds

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS

$

494,385,141

$

52,190,264

$

44,994,045

$

72,730,035

$
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SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE II (UNAUDITED)

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NEW WESTMINSTER
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS - BY FUND
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015
General
Fund
REVENUE
Property Taxation and Other Levies
Utility Rates
Sale of Services
Grants from Other Governments
Contributed Tangible Capital Assets
Contributions
Other Revenue

$

EXPENSES
Police Services
Parks, Culture and Recreation
Fire Services
Development Services
Engineering Services
General Government
Library
Utility Operations

ANNUAL SURPLUS
Interfund Transfers:
From Electrical Fund to Current Fund
From Electrical Fund to Provision for Future Exp.
Other Transfers
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN SURPLUS
Accumulated Surplus, beginning of year
ACCUMULATED SURPLUS, end of year

$

69,083,413
12,890,797
2,841,173
402,017
12,792,491
15,589,410

Electrical
Utility Fund
$

41,537,363
105,448
1,418,761
26,000

Water
Utility Fund
$

10,167,786
193,124
38,880
-

Sewer
Utility Fund
$

15,169,071
552,464
298,870
240,675
41,264

Solid Waste
Utility Fund
$

2,421,714
161
931,173

2015
$

2014

69,083,413
69,295,934
13,741,994
2,841,173
739,767
14,451,927
16,587,847

$

2015 Budget

66,849,406
66,306,021
12,278,643
2,325,916
5,438,402
20,827,533
16,670,911

$

69,357,910
69,392,955
13,173,013
3,217,740
15,745,735
11,530,722

113,599,301

43,087,572

10,399,790

16,302,344

3,353,048

186,742,055

190,696,832

182,418,075

25,930,235
19,803,095
13,846,652
3,930,163
29,593,941
22,842,910
3,507,858
-

33,591,722

7,324,023

9,695,505

2,423,750

25,930,235
19,803,095
13,846,652
3,930,163
29,593,941
22,842,910
3,507,858
53,035,000

24,229,337
19,762,405
15,752,770
3,802,547
25,137,570
20,128,208
3,472,715
49,060,194

25,791,600
17,956,521
14,701,589
3,985,765
23,850,670
20,430,773
3,997,582
52,207,537

119,454,854

33,591,722

7,324,023

9,695,505

2,423,750

172,489,854

161,345,746

162,922,037

(5,855,553)

9,495,850

3,075,767

6,606,839

929,298

14,252,201

29,351,086

19,496,038

2,500,000
3,500,000
2,029,484

(2,500,000)
(3,500,000)
435,083

(794,919)

(884,894)

(784,754)

-

-

-

2,173,931

3,930,933

2,280,848

5,721,945

144,544

14,252,201

29,351,086

19,496,038

492,211,210
494,385,141

48,259,331
52,190,264

42,713,197
44,994,045

67,008,090
72,730,035

1,405,948
1,550,492

651,597,776
$ 665,849,977

622,246,690
$ 651,597,776

651,597,776
$ 671,093,814

$

$

$

$
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CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NEW WESTMINSTER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF RESERVES
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE III (UNAUDITED)

Transfer
from (to)
Operating and
Trust Funds

Balances,
Beginning of
Year
RESERVES SET ASIDE BY COUNCIL
Affordable Housing
Childcare Amenity
Community Amenity
Community Development
Community Endowment
Computer Replacement
Environment/Childcare Grants
Equipment Replacement
Facility Maintenance
Facility Replacement
General Amenity
General Fund Provisions
Offstreet Parking Provisions
Public Art
Electrical Fund Provisions
Water Fund Provisions
Sewer Fund Provisions
Solid Waste Fund Provisions

$

STATUTORY RESERVES
Cemetery Reserve
Construction of Municipal Works
Parking Cash in Lieu
Park Land Acquisition
Tax Sale Land

933,720 $
72,850
2,453,259
12,216,929
5,135,114
1,235,213
200,000
10,193,290
7,251,753
2,475,087
316,765
3,733,291
3,846,571
262,990
11,733,350
7,061,280
10,555,606
(670,671)
79,006,397
583,273
3,712,112
1,021,760
797,747
1,593,203
7,708,095

Third Party
Contributions
(Disbursements)

275,374 $
(40,000)
(2,881,472)
(103,324)
278,028
(4,426)
1,893,048
2,199,084
1,718,368
2,742,915
357,994
130,000
3,239,969
581,250
2,253,286
110,776
12,750,870
22,934
4,315,342
4,338,276

Proceeds
from
Disposal

Interest
Allocation

$
6,320,188
(35,000)
6,123
628,815
6,920,126

20,663
1,612
54,291
270,361
113,640
27,335
4,426
225,578
160,481
54,774
7,010
2,161
5,820
948,152

42,579
42,579

82,148
22,612
17,654
35,258
157,672

$

136,843
136,843

Transfers
For Capital
Expenses
$

1,280,000
1,280,000

$
(16,844)
(5,085,776)
(71,672)
(3,259,608)
(1,659,636)
(2,137,545)
(413,948)
(139,841)
(12,784,870)
(15,522)
(15,522)

Balances,
End of
Year
1,229,757
34,462
2,490,706
10,840,230
5,110,430
1,468,904
200,000
9,189,151
7,951,682
4,248,229
323,775
4,346,945
3,790,617
258,969
15,602,134
7,642,530
12,808,892
(559,895)
86,977,518
606,207
9,374,080
1,044,372
857,980
1,628,461
13,511,100

TOTAL RESERVES

$

86,714,492

$

17,089,146

$

6,962,705

$

1,105,824

$

1,416,843

$

(12,800,392) $

100,488,618

2015 Budget

$

88,908,000

$

21,055,000

$

6,854,000

$

1,118,000

$

7,900,000

$

(51,458,000) $

74,377,000
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ATTACHMENT #4
Schedule of Council Remuneration and Expenses

Corporation of the City of New Westminster
Schedule of Council Remuneration and Expenses, 2015
Council Member

Cote, Jonathan
Harper, Bill
Johnstone, Patrick
McEvoy, Jaimie
Puchmayr, Chuck
Trentadue, Mary
Williams, Lorrie

Total
Remuneration
101,299
40,354
40,397
40,397
40,397
40,397
41,103

UBCM / FCM /
LMLGA
Conferences
1,488
2,376
5,042
2,350
2,583
5,227

FCM
Committees

Other
Conferences /
Seminars /
Training
283
1,893
3,090
720
413
4,732
542

Other
Community
Events
1,064
799
388
329
258
248
770

The Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, subsection 6 (1) defines “expenses” as follows: “includes travel
expenses, membership, tuition, relocation, vehicle leases, extraordinary hiring expenses, registration fees and similar
amounts paid directly to an employee, or to a third party on behalf of the employee, and which has not been included in
‘remuneration’, is not limited to expenses that are generally perceived as perquisites, or bestowing personal benefit, and
may include expenditures required for employees to perform their job functions, and excludes benefits of a general nature
applicable to all employees pursuant to an agreement such as medical, dental, counselling, insurance and similar plans.”

City of New Westminster

ATTACHMENT 5

Schedule of Employee Remuneration
and Expenses

Corporation of the City of New Westminster
Schedule of Employee Remuneration and Expenses (>$75,000), 2015
Employee Name

Abel, Sally L
Adamson, Paul N.
Allison, Mark
Armstrong, Tim
Atherton, Terry
Auer, Christian L
Bailey, Glen B
Baranj, Adam R.
Barranti, Jody D
Basi, Rupinder
Behl, Jerry
Bellemare, Russell
Bergman, Christopher M
Berube, Christian M.J.
Black, Chad
Blatter, Ryan J
Booth, Ronald T
Bourdeaud'huy, Jesse A
Breedveld, Mark B
Bremner, Curtis
Brown, Daniel H
Bruce, Christie R
Bulpitt, Edgar A
Burgess, Joan Ethlann
Buss, Susan M
Callow, John
Calogiros, Charles A.R.L.
Cameron, Michael C.
Campbell, Ian W
Campbell, Suman Ruby
Carle, Roderick E
Carroll, Thomas
Cartwright, Jeffrey P R
Chadwick, Renee E
Cheng, Kenneth
Cho, Christine Michelle
Chok, Alvin K. S.
Clapton, Christopher R
Cole, David
Cole, Lesley S
Conley, Troi D
Connolly, Norm

Remuneration
$
78,645
112,913
109,814
173,264
138,794
110,287
114,592
93,777
127,381
87,032
116,310
80,949
136,675
106,803
124,440
110,469
124,947
106,524
115,251
144,432
80,373
108,491
138,830
172,654
99,933
75,077
109,317
111,982
93,405
94,092
181,880
95,738
134,594
108,296
89,454
80,069
137,789
112,311
114,808
91,643
134,005
101,999
1 of 6

City Business
Expenses
$
331 $
1,046
6,226
623
1,878
3,710
340
1,417
507
5,339
824
1,786
300
1,466
1,655
1,679
8,682
2,994
162
1,229
1,088
1,767
28
3,072
929
1,712
101
6,222
5,428
1,218
4,545
1,068

Total
78,976
112,913
110,860
179,491
139,418
112,165
118,302
94,117
128,798
87,539
116,310
80,949
142,014
106,803
125,265
112,255
124,947
106,824
115,251
145,898
80,373
110,146
140,509
181,335
102,927
75,239
110,546
113,070
95,172
94,120
184,952
95,738
135,523
110,008
89,555
86,290
143,217
112,311
116,027
91,643
138,549
103,066

Corporation of the City of New Westminster
Schedule of Employee Remuneration and Expenses (>$75,000), 2015
Employee Name
Creighton, David W
Dalla Pace, Eric P
Davie, Bradley F
Davis, Kristian A
Deighton, Kim
Denhoed, Gordon L
Dick, Robert P
Doan, James
Dobrescu, C Catalin
Dodgshon, Greig G
Doucette, James R.
Downey, Stephen
Drabyk, Joan M
Dunbar, Alasdair
Durante, Frank
Edwards, Donald J
Emanuels, Barton Roger
Floris, David A
Fong, Richard
Ford, David E
Fryer, Blair Cameron
Fullerton, Jeff J.
Fung, Kenny K H
Gambicourt, Drew
Gardiner, Cory T.
Gaudreault, Pierre
Gibson, Colin R
Gibson, Dean
Gibson, Jan
Gidda, Rana Hardip
Gilbert, Leslie R
Gill, Jeffery G
Goddard, Neil
Grant, Ranald J
Grieve, Beverly
Grossman, Donald D
Guiney, David
Hackl, Edward S
Haight, Jason
Hannula, Arne P
Harkness, Brodie J
Harvey, Todd

City Business
Remuneration
Expenses
$
107,779 $
61 $
76,612
145
119,210
5,376
107,491
1,577
101,100
132,270
3,735
136,630
1,419
102,143
1,088
115,006
308
102,116
109,421
1,893
79,581
450
83,787
623
78,219
1,088
111,125
1,134
116,464
1,984
120,311
748
128,256
2,348
133,688
8,108
92,654
131,838
4,163
108,012
95,290
72
1,224
102,578
108,429
5,543
160,506
83,411
5,989
181,202
63
129,670
3,397
89,742
1,276
101,081
90
122,425
828
80,933
118,288
966
171,745
3,250
157,769
3,302
85,131
75,136
601
117,424
32
143,741
438
119,664
84,666
2 of 6

Total
107,840
76,757
124,586
109,068
101,100
136,004
138,049
103,232
115,314
102,116
111,314
80,031
84,410
79,307
112,260
118,448
121,059
130,604
141,796
92,654
136,001
108,012
95,362
103,802
113,973
160,506
89,400
181,265
133,066
91,018
101,171
123,254
80,933
119,254
174,995
161,071
85,131
75,736
117,456
144,180
119,664
84,666

Corporation of the City of New Westminster
Schedule of Employee Remuneration and Expenses (>$75,000), 2015
Employee Name

Hatch, John
Hayre, Joga
Hebert, Gregory M
Hedayatnassab, Hooman
Heron, Lisa L.M.
Hockin, Christopher G.
Holowatiuk, Gary
Hoskin, Brian V
Hrbacek, Vedran
Hudson, Tracey E
Hughes, Heidi
Hurst, James F
Ius, Kathleen T
James, Lynn S
Javens, Dustin
Jin, Fan
Jokic, Dan
Jones, Faith A.
Karasinski, Gavin
Keen, Randy K
Killawee, Jacqueline
Kirk, James
Knowles, Hilary S
Knutson, Quinn C
Kula, Kevin C
Laing, Joseph W
Lam, Cuong V
Lange, Jason I.
LaRoy, Douglas K
Lau, Daisy S Y
Leahy, Douglas Allan
Ledoux, Claude E
Lindenbach, Darren M
Loss, Peter O
Lowden, Sean
Lowrie, James
Lukianchuk, Jennifer
MacDonald, Robert G
MacInnes, Anthony N
MacLean, Michael
Maghera, Hardeep S.
Magno, Susan R

City Business
Remuneration
Expenses
$
150,070 $
1,552 $
78,234
1,728
88,181
4,450
105,852
100,433
78,829
627
175,110
2,951
75,660
898
75,684
2,014
90,090
94,578
1,586
95,852
511
109,380
5,226
102,187
3,012
78,024
1,269
75,906
76,348
841
90,685
583
76,218
137,911
2,657
79,935
1,578
80,927
1,647
119,844
125
1,682
130,305
109,830
1,079
133,552
921
79,245
308
109,407
2,048
87,988
1,395
79,139
109,107
1,496
122,031
298
116,034
929
158,491
1,456
78,607
1,224
177,673
3,869
80,526
262
137,492
278
146,800
340
79,397
1,500
84,461
76,006
21
3 of 6

Total
151,622
79,962
92,631
105,852
100,433
79,455
178,061
76,559
77,698
90,090
96,164
96,363
114,606
105,199
79,293
75,906
77,189
91,268
76,218
140,568
81,513
82,574
119,969
131,986
110,909
134,472
79,552
111,455
89,383
79,139
110,603
122,329
116,963
159,947
79,831
181,541
80,787
137,770
147,140
80,897
84,461
76,027

Corporation of the City of New Westminster
Schedule of Employee Remuneration and Expenses (>$75,000), 2015
Employee Name
Malcom, Anthony V
Manubay, Celso M
Markos, Binega
Marling, Vali
Marshall, Lee A
Martin, Cidalia
Matson, Dustin R
McCaig, Josh
McCullough, Ramon Q
McCullough, Robert Jay
McDonald, Jonathan W
McDonnell, Wendy
McKee, Marie
Mereigh, Christy V
Milaney, Colin G
Mitchell, David J
Morin, Bruno M
Moulder, Roy
Mullard, Darren
Mulleda, Alfredo C.
Murray, Dylan K
Nash, Michael A
Nemeth, Paul E
Oldale, Tom
O'Malley, Creighton K
Otieno, George
Pakulak, Steven E
Parsons, Cleone
Paterson, Cory G
Pennell, Tim
Perry, Diane M
Peterson, Merlin L
Phillips, Bruce A
Phillips, David M
Piovesan, Dino
Poelzer, Michael T.
Pollard, Karen M
Ponzini, Colleen
Poole, Michael S
Price, David K
Prodnuk, Matthew T
Puchailo, Randolph R

City Business
Remuneration
Expenses
$
137,620 $
1,088 $
138,245
80,278
345
105,651
546
131,305
3,934
78,388
143
114,859
340
104,226
116,910
4,343
105,651
136,976
1,075
100,433
3,197
102,801
2,574
98,804
2,117
126,475
105,751
1,088
113,861
567
117,143
1,980
82,283
116,789
649
95,030
3,535
126,540
1,470
119,772
4,127
610
84,806
93,227
3,088
91,948
704
121,251
2,098
94,729
93,416
1,279
119,828
116,765
758
134,238
81,219
135,122
3,033
76,487
103,414
105,406
666
116,240
4,167
108,942
340
89,896
76,958
133,449
2,309
4 of 6

Total
138,708
138,245
80,623
106,197
135,239
78,531
115,199
104,226
121,253
105,651
138,050
103,630
105,375
100,921
126,475
106,838
114,428
119,123
82,283
117,438
98,565
128,010
123,899
85,416
96,315
92,651
123,349
94,729
94,694
119,828
117,523
134,238
81,219
138,155
76,487
103,414
106,072
120,407
109,282
89,896
76,958
135,758

Corporation of the City of New Westminster
Schedule of Employee Remuneration and Expenses (>$75,000), 2015
Employee Name
Quinn, James Douglas
Quinn, Timothy P
Reid, Greg S
Rempel, Ashley E
Rode, Steven William
Romanyk, Jeffrey
Roxburgh, Lynn K
Rutishauser, Marc
Rutledge, Dale A
Sandferd, Carie
Sarson, Donald S
Schiebler, Jeffrey M
Schlecker, Farron D.
Schneider, Thomas
Shanks, Duncan A
Sharkey, Joshua
Sherwood, Alexander G.
Shokar, Baljeet S
Simpkins, Arthur P
Solis, Elixander
Spitale, Lisa M
Spurrell, Julie
Stark, John H
Stevens, Mark B
Stewart, James D
Stockdale, Luke M
Stuber, Randy J
Tannar, Jeffrey E
Teed, Jackie
Thomson, Erika
Thorpe, Kevin S.
Topnik, Sean
Torget, Scott D
Tougas, Trevor
Tyler, Jason R.
Vanderspek, Robert W
Wai, John
Waitt, Barry D
Wakulchik, Robert
Wang, Ling
Wat, Eugene
Watkins, Erin

City Business
Remuneration
Expenses
$
87,241 $
278 $
81,788
1,720
131,126
3,321
112,795
5,782
101,999
2,202
114,689
85,492
172
93,073
1,044
113,600
340
103,231
604
108,537
1,088
106,376
107,041
645
117,754
6,163
77,212
909
104,850
349
102,569
114,453
1,224
82,114
77,240
602
220,578
3,757
130,450
251
99,424
77,429
112,972
450
75,556
147,296
1,682
76,170
122,953
3,341
92,540
310
102,045
87,350
137,778
1,606
103,078
1,269
109,335
664
76,306
76,102
2,605
99,751
192
88,734
101,297
3,938
140,896
965
76,593
2,023
5 of 6

Total
87,519
83,508
134,447
118,576
104,201
114,689
85,664
94,117
113,940
103,835
109,625
106,376
107,686
123,917
78,121
105,198
102,569
115,677
82,114
77,841
224,335
130,701
99,424
77,429
113,422
75,556
148,977
76,170
126,294
92,851
102,045
87,350
139,384
104,347
109,999
76,306
78,707
99,943
88,734
105,235
141,861
78,615

Corporation of the City of New Westminster
Schedule of Employee Remuneration and Expenses (>$75,000), 2015
Employee Name
Werbovetski, Wayne
Westlund, Eric
Westra, John
Whiteley, Keith G
Williams, Erin G
Wilson, Danny C
Wilson, Jennifer
Wilson, Mark C
Wishlove, Vernon James
Wolgram, Jeffrey R.
Yang, Duo
Young, Jonathan
Zelter, Bruce A
Zimmermann, Jay
Ziraldo, Jeannie
Subtotal Employees > $75,000
Subtotal All Other Excluding Sworn Police

City Business
Remuneration
Expenses
Total
$
121,425 $
1,377 $
122,802
117,063
117,063
89,430
351
89,781
96,497
2,156
98,654
137,827
289
138,117
130,587
296
130,883
136,152
1,257
137,409
126,371
1,175
127,546
154,749
2,871
157,620
88,261
88,261
82,389
82,389
102,161
1,313
103,474
171,672
1,434
173,106
103,601
649
104,250
101,999
3,418
105,417
24,505,734
303,302
24,809,036
26,233,546
106,145
26,339,691
$ 50,739,280 $
409,447 $ 51,148,727

6 of 6
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ATTACHMENT 6

Schedule of Suppliers of Goods or Services

Corporation of the City of New Westminster
Schedule of Suppliers of Goods or Services (>$25,000), 2015

Supplier Name
A & B RAIL SERVICES LTD
A AND A TESTING LTD
ABC TRANSMISSIONS LTD
ACCURATE ALARMS LTD
ACCURATE LOCK AND SAFE CO LTD
ACROW LTD (CANADA)
ACTIVE FIRST AID INC.
ACUERE CONSULTING
ACUMEN ENGINEERING LTD
AECOM CANADA LTD
ALEXANDER HOLBURN BEAUDIN LANG LLP
ALIGNED FLOOR COVERINGS
ALLIED READY MIX CONCRETE LTD
ALLSTREAM INC
ALLTECK LINE CONTRACTOR INC
ALPHA MECHANICAL
ALTEC INDUSTRIES LTD
AME CONSULTING GROUP LTD
AMEC AMERICAS LTD
ANISOFT GROUP INC
APEX COMMUNICATIONS INC
APPLEWOOD NISSAN
ARCOSE CONSULTING LTD
ARETE SAFETY AND PROTECTION INC
ARMTEC LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
ASSANTE CAPITAL MANAGEMENT LTD
ASSOCIATED FIRE SAFETY EQUIPMENT
AUDIO VISUAL SYSTEMS INTEGRATION INC.
B&B HEAVY CIVIL CONSTRUCTION LIMITED
BADGER EARTHWORKS
BAKER AND TAYLOR INC ATLANTA
BALL SUPERIOR LTD
BAY HILL CONTRACTING LTD
BC HYDRO
BC LIBRARIES COOPERATIVE
BC PENSION CORPORATION
BC PLANT HEALTH CARE INC
BD HALL CONSTRUCTORS CORP
BELL MOBILITY
BI PURE WATER
BIRDSEYE OFFICE INC
BLACK & MCDONALD LTD
BMS INTEGRATED SERVICES INC
BORTOLO AND SONS PAVING CO LTD.

1 of 7

$

Amount
26,250
96,758
28,696
38,618
47,981
146,777
25,862
38,850
87,734
104,192
142,201
38,896
56,972
220,435
302,564
57,968
271,962
49,114
85,752
104,988
29,863
57,925
52,048
38,966
63,163
38,884
82,518
176,285
528,901
48,791
144,565
26,572
245,694
27,030,486
44,487
6,635,653
70,776
3,026,985
244,420
28,680
110,495
26,614
62,637
131,224

Corporation of the City of New Westminster
Schedule of Suppliers of Goods or Services (>$25,000), 2015

Supplier Name
BOSTON CONSTRUCTION CORP
BOYDEN VANCOUVER
BRIERE PRODUCTION GROUP INC
BRINKS CANADA LTD CALGARY
BROWN CRAWSHAW INC
BRUGMAN COMMERCIAL KITCHENS LTD
BUNT AND ASSOCIATES ENGINEERING BC LTD
BURNABY NEW WESTMINSTER
BURNABY NOW
BUSH BOHLMAN AND PARTNERS
BUTOKUKAN KARATE
CANADA GREEN BUILDING COUNCIL
CANADIAN NATIONAL RAILWAY COMPANY
CANON CANADA INC.
CASCADIA ENERGY LTD
CATERPILLAR FINANCIAL SERVICES LTD
CDN LINEN & UNIFORM
CDW CANADA INC
CHASE PAYMENTECH
CHEVRON CANADA LTD
CIMA+ CANADA INC
CINTAS
CITY OF BURNABY FIREHALL 1
CITY OF VANCOUVER
CLAYMORE CLOTHES LTD
CLEAR TECH INDUSTRIES
CLEARESULT CANADA INC.
COLE HARTLEY CONSTRUCTION
COMMERCIAL AQUATIC SUPPLIES
COMMERCIAL TRUCK EQUIPMENT CO
COMMISSIONAIRES BC
COMMUNITY FIRE PREVENTION LTD
COMTEX MICRO SYSTEMS INC
CONCORD SECURITY CORP
CORIX UTILITES INC
CORIX WATER PRODUCTS INC
CPS (CANADA) INC
CRAFT SCIENTIFIC LTD
CREATIVE ENGINE
CROWN CONTRACTING LTD
CVS MIDWEST TAPE LLC
DAVID NORMAN ARCHITECT INC
DEL EQUIPMENT
DENTONS CANADA LLP
2 of 7

$

Amount
181,230
35,449
74,640
57,938
44,137
46,163
50,323
46,988
65,339
29,118
25,171
25,882
238,564
28,995
204,683
63,004
25,105
34,452
214,043
796,244
201,486
74,738
36,290
61,562
27,049
45,769
98,840
35,098
94,622
86,014
260,087
34,633
83,126
50,432
498,339
73,110
32,619
34,409
64,660
503,873
28,603
66,348
52,791
30,974

Corporation of the City of New Westminster
Schedule of Suppliers of Goods or Services (>$25,000), 2015

Supplier Name
DERAMORE CONSTRUCTION SERVICES INC
DESIGN ROOFING
DIALOG BC INC.
DIAMOND HEAD CONSULTING LTD
DIGITAL POSTAGE
DINESEN NURSERIES LTD
DONALD M HENDERSON
DONE RIGHT PAINTING AND SANDBLASTING LTD
DOUGNESS HOLDINGS LTD
DOYLE JOSEPH M
DS TACTICAL
EAGLE VALLEY EXCAVATING INC
EARTHBITAT ENGINEERING INC
ECOLIGHTEN ENERGY SOLUTIONS
E-COMM EMERGENCY COMMUNICATIONS
ECOWASTE INDUSTRIES LTD
EECOL ELECTRIC CORP
EITI GLOBAL LTD. / EETG LTD
ESC AUTOMATION INC
ESRI CANADA LTD
FASKEN MARTINEAU DUMOULIN
FIBERNET SERVICES LTD
FINISH LINE TRAFFIC MARKING
FLOCOR INC
FORTISBC
FORTRAN TRAFFIC SYSTEMS LTD
FOURTH UTILITY INC
FRASER RICHMOND SOIL AND FIBRE LTD
FRASER RIVER PILE & DREDGE (GP) INC
FRASER VALLEY EQUIPMENT LTD
FRED THOMPSON CONTRACTORS (1991) LTD.
FRICIA CONSTRUCTION INC.
FRONTIER POWER PRODUCTS LTD
G&T DON MILLS
GIBSON WATERWORKS SUPPLY INC
GO4OBJECTIVES LTD.
GOODBYE GRAFFITI BURNABY-MISSION
GORDON FOOD SERVICE CAN. LTD
GOTRAFFIC MANAGEMENT INC
GREAT NORTHERN ENGINEERING CONSULTANTS
GREATER VANCOUVER S AND D DISTRICT
GREATER VANCOUVER WATER DISTRICT
GREGG DISTRIBUTORS BC LTD
GROVER ELLIOTT AND CO LTD
3 of 7

$

Amount
2,271,380
96,391
282,531
107,147
409,500
54,511
31,358
53,376
28,825
25,135
75,811
57,860
34,965
72,953
1,819,809
26,009
182,433
52,899
68,023
53,833
60,688
43,347
34,853
25,467
186,683
292,971
27,107
244,276
129,854
28,611
268,380
455,783
40,279
103,687
33,403
61,063
223,705
145,759
192,702
26,486
7,053,107
5,606,250
73,897
28,910

Corporation of the City of New Westminster
Schedule of Suppliers of Goods or Services (>$25,000), 2015

Supplier Name
GUILLEVIN INTERNATIONAL
HALCYON TRAFFIC CONTROL LTD
HANLEY AGENCIES LTD
HARBOUR INTERNATIONAL TRUCKS
HARVEST FRASER RICHMOND ORGANICS LTD
HATCH MOTT MACDONALD LTD
HICUBE STORAGE PRODUCTS
HILTI (CANADA) CORPORATION
HORIZON LANDSCAPE CONTRACTORS INC
HUGHES CONDON MARLER ARCHITECTS
ICBC
IMPERIAL PARKING CANADA CORPORATION
IMPERIAL PAVING LIMITED
INDUSTRIAL ALLIANCE
INLINE SALES AND SERVICE LTD
INSITUFORM TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED
IPSOS REID CORP
ISAAC PRINT IT PRODUCTIONS INC
ISL ENGINEERING AND LAND SERVICES LTD
IT BLUEPRINT SOLUTIONS CONSULTING INC
JADE WEST ENGINEERING CO LTD
JIM PATTISON TOYOTA
JOHN TALBOT AND ASSOCIATES INC
JOHNSON CONTROLS LP
JOYCE & DUGGAN
JUSTICE INST OF BC
KAL TIRE RICHMOND
KAMBO SOFTWARE CONSULTING LTD
KAYJON VENTURES LTD
KERR WOOD LEIDAL ASSOCIATES LTD
KONE INC
KONICA MINOLTA BUSINESS SOLUTIONS CANADA
KPMG LLP
KRONOS CANADIAN SYSTEMS INC.
LIBRARY BOUND INC
LINESTAR UTILITY SUPPLY INC
LTS INFRASTRUCTURE SERVICES LP
LUMCA INC
MAGIL CONSTRUCTION PACIFIC INC
MAINROAD LOWER MAINLAND CONTRACTING LTD
MARATHON SURFACES INC
MASSEY THEATRE SOCIETY
MCELHANNEY CONSULTING SERVICES LTD
MCMEDIA A/V SERVICES LTD
4 of 7

$

Amount
128,292
61,807
33,773
49,098
34,170
40,427
132,439
1,414,349
70,207
55,130
330,420
525,195
440,837
127,031
76,106
544,656
25,200
28,316
115,147
129,783
68,973
25,564
27,105
246,639
89,507
28,302
63,788
89,232
45,416
126,350
39,043
54,549
54,023
62,399
30,992
48,528
27,085
29,287
65,013
300,476
88,375
212,533
110,273
50,910

Corporation of the City of New Westminster
Schedule of Suppliers of Goods or Services (>$25,000), 2015

Supplier Name
MCRAES ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES LTD
MD CHARLTON CO LTD
MDT TECHNICAL SERVICES INC
MEDICAL SERVICES PLAN
MEDISYS MONTREAL
MERLETTI CONSTRUCTION 1999 LTD
METRO MOTORS LTD.
METRO ROOFING REPAIRS AND MAINT LTD
MICROSERVE
MICROSOFT CORPORATION
MINISTRY OF TRANSPORTATION AND INFRASTRU
MNP LLP
MODUS PLANNING, DESIGN & ENGAGEMENT INC.
MOTT ELECTRIC GP
MUSSON CATTELL MACKEY PARTNERSHIP
N49 CHIEF LEARNING OFFICER
NATIONAL TRUCK CENTRE INC DBA
NEEL-CO BUILDERS (2014) LTD
NET ZERO WASTE ABBOTSFORD INC.
NETLINK COMPUTER INC
NEW WEST VICTIM ASSISTANCE ASSOCIATION
NUWEST CONTRACTING LTD
O'CONNOR DODGE CHRYSLER JEEP
OFFICE OF MCFARLANE BIGGAR
OLYMPIC PROJECTS LTD
OPEN TEXT CORP
OPUS DAYTONKNIGHT CONSULTANTS LTD
ORACLE CANADA ULC
OVERHEAD DOOR CO
OWEN BIRD LAW CORPORATION
PACIFIC BLUE CROSS
PANAGO ENTERPRISES LTD
PCL CONSTRUCTORS WESTCOAST INC
PD MCLAREN LTD
PIVOTAL PROJECTS INCORPORATED
PJS SYSTEMS INC
POLO SECURITY SERVICES LTD
PONTE BROS CONTRACTING LTD
PRIMECORP
PROACTIVE CONSTRUCTION LIMITED
PROSCENIUM ARCHITECTURE AND INTERIORS
PROTEC INSTALLATIONS GROUP
PUBLIC LIBRARY INTERLINK
PURCELL MECHANICAL LTD
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Amount
314,777
50,290
59,961
766,548
34,006
101,009
733,613
71,787
61,109
169,758
110,250
57,750
41,295
32,474
247,287
31,293
49,617
88,216
83,940
49,653
45,000
118,041
94,296
104,979
95,891
87,926
97,949
139,998
26,012
52,971
1,735,615
93,428
450,969
32,422
122,126
26,826
114,892
214,908
122,555
334,460
42,055
47,947
45,451
34,981
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Schedule of Suppliers of Goods or Services (>$25,000), 2015

Supplier Name
PW TRENCHLESS CONSTRUCTION INC
QUEEN'S EXECUTIVE DEVELOPMENT CENTRE
RECEIVER GENERAL FOR CANADA
RECEIVER GENERAL FOR CANADA (PAYROLL)
RENGER, ROBERT
RITEWAY TREE SERVICE LTD
ROCKY MOUNTAIN PHOENIX
ROGERS
ROLLINS MACHINERY LTD
ROPER GREYELL FORMERLY GREYELL MCPHAIL
ROYAL PRINTERS LTD
S AND C ELECTRIC CANADA LTD
SANDPIPER CONTRACTING LTD
SCOTIA BANK
SHARP'S AUDIO VISUAL
SHAW BUSINESS
SIRSIDYNIX
SNC-LAVALIN INC.
SOFTCHOICE LP
SOKIL EXPRESS LINES LTD
SOURCE FLOOR & SPECIALTIES INC
SPACE2PLACE DESIGN INC.
STAPLES ADVANTAGE
STAR ILLUMINATIONS
STEELGUARD FENCE LTD
STERLING FENCE CO LTD
SUMAS REMEDIATION SERVICES INC.
SUPERIOR CITY SERVICES LTD
SUPERIOR PROPANE
TARGA CONTRACTING LTD
TECHNO MONKEY MEDIA
TECHNOCARB EQUIPMENT (2004) LTD
TELUS
TENNANT SALES AND SERVICE COMPANY
TERASPAN NETWORKS INC
TERVITA CORPORATION
TETRA TECH EBA INC
TEXCAN
THE TEMPEST DEVELOPMENT GROUP
TIP TOP DRY CLEANING AND ALTERATION
TOSHIBA BUSINESS SOLUTIONS
TRUFFLES FINE FOODS
TYBO CONTRACTING LTD
TYPLAN CONSULTING LTD.
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Amount
1,518,204
29,041
1,159,770
2,962,091
36,238
50,624
37,214
25,285
290,645
68,406
34,983
109,552
85,163
60,392
45,016
47,040
54,923
68,983
196,355
55,691
38,933
63,660
70,505
45,554
42,867
68,182
103,884
123,014
44,335
265,572
48,031
54,414
133,174
63,205
36,395
659,199
131,663
127,344
100,816
47,966
30,904
725,331
1,020,448
35,595
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Schedule of Suppliers of Goods or Services (>$25,000), 2015

Supplier Name
UMBRELA ENVIRONMENTAL SOLUTIONS
UNDERHILL & UNDERHILL
UNICORN SECURITY SERVICES INC
UNION OF BC MUNICIPALITIES
UNITED LIBRARY SERVICES INC.
URBAN ARTS ARCHITECTURE
UTC FIRE & SECURITY CANADA
VALLEY GRAVEL SALES LTD
VALLEY TRAFFIC SYSTEMS INC
VANCOUVER INTERNATIONAL SCULPTURE BIENNALE
VANE LAWN AND GARDEN SERVICES 1981 LTD
WASTE MANAGEMENT OF CANADA CORPORATION
WEB ENGINEERING LTD
WEBIR AUTOMATION CONTROL SERIVCES LTD
WESTVAC INDUSTRIAL LTD - BC
WFR WHOLESALE FIRE & RESCUE LTD
WHITEHOTS INC.
WHITESPOT SERVICE LTD DBA MORREY NISSAN
WIGGINS ADJUSTMENTS LTD
WILLIS CANADA VANCOUVER
WILLIS ENERGY SERVICES LTD
WINVAN PAVING LTD
WOOD WYANT INC
WORKSAFE BC
WORLEYPARSONS CANADA SERVICES LTD
WSP CANADA INC
XYLEM CANADA COMPANY
YOUNG ANDERSON
Total aggregate amount paid to suppliers exceeding $25,000

$

Amount
38,227
48,534
28,724
41,060
65,112
37,657
33,449
25,243
69,423
130,000
59,094
838,631
186,056
57,331
349,922
862,700
42,370
27,991
40,700
926,113
106,294
3,640,758
43,574
1,145,750
32,651
137,263
46,696
714,993
101,550,152

Consolidated total paid to suppliers with aggregate of $25,000 or less

$

7,015,752

Consolidated grants and contributions with aggregate exceeding $25,000

$

608,769

Grand Total

$

109,174,673
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ATTACHMENT 7
Statement of Severance Agreements

NEW WESTJ\IllNSTER
Human Resources

STATEMENT OF SEVERANCE AGREEMENTS

There was one severance agreement made between the Corporation of the City of
New Westminster and a non-unionized employee during the 2015 fiscal year
representing 4.4 months of compensation.

ｾ＠

Joan Burgess
Director of Human Resources

Doc #690255(v2)
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REPORT
Finance and Information Technology
To:

Mayor Coté and Members of Council
in Open Council Workshop

Date:

From:

Gary Holowatiuk, CPA, CA
Director of Finance & Information
Technology

File:

Item #:
Subject:

5/30/2016

176/2016

Investment Report to April 30, 2016

RECOMMENDATION
THAT Council receives this report on the status of the City’s investment portfolio for
information.

SUMMARY
The City’s investment portfolio has a balance of $122 million as at April 30, 2016. The
portfolio balance is $0.5 million lower than it was at April 30, 2015 which is primarily due to
repayment of $2.5 million in short term borrowing in January, 2016.
The City has earned $0.6 million on its investments for the year to date period achieving
approximately 27% of its annual revenue budget of $3.2 million.
Current market interest rates are very modest and the City continues to invest more funds in
the intermediate and long term MFA investments to take advantage of higher yields. The
current investment portfolio has $105 million in MFA intermediate and bond funds.
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BALANCES
On April 30, 2016 the City’s investment balances were as follows:
Scotia Bank

$ 13,687,975

Municipal Finance Authority Pooled Investment Funds
(Market Value):
Money Market Fund
$ 3,583,549
Intermediate Fund
40,385,396
Bond Fund
64,919,774
108,888,719
Total Investments

$ 122,576,694

Schedule “A” provides additional information on the above investments.
MUNICIPAL FINANCE AUTHORITY (‘MFA’) POOLED INVESTMENT FUNDS
The MFA investment program offers pooled investment options in the Money Market,
Intermediate, and Bond Funds. Municipalities may participate in one or all of the funds for
competitive rates of return and excellent liquidity in low risk investments.
The MFA is capable of generating competitive returns due to fewer restrictions through
legislation than that of municipalities. The funds are well diversified and managed by
Phillips, Hager & North in compliance with MFA’s investment policies. The funds are
benchmarked against FTSE indices and are shown on Schedule “B” attached.
Reported returns are based on the market value of the investments held by the funds on the
reporting date. The market values may fluctuate significantly depending on volatility in the
market. The actual returns that are experienced in the fund will depend on when the
investments are sold or mature.
The annualized growth rates for the year for MFA funds measured against the FTSE were:
Money Market Fund 0.76%; Intermediate Fund 1.15%; and Bond Fund 1.78%; the
annualized rates of return of the FTSE benchmarks were 0.33%, 0.39%, and 1.23%
respectively (Schedule B). The MFA continues to perform above the benchmark; however,
investment performance has continued to decline over the last year.
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MARKET OUTLOOK1
The Bank of Canada’s April 13, 2016 press release states that the bank is maintaining its
overnight rate at ½%. The bank expects global economic growth to strengthen gradually in
2017 – 2018 to 3½% from 3% in 2016. Inflation in Canada is currently below the 2% target
and is expected to ease further before returning to 2%.
ATTACHMENTS
Schedule A - Investments Held as at April 30, 2016
Schedule B - Annualized Rates of Return on MFA Funds as at April 30, 2016

This report has been prepared by Colleen Ponzini, CPA, CA

Approved for Presentation to Council

Gary Holowatiuk, CPA, CA
Director of Finance & Information
Technology

1

Bank of Canada, Press Release April 13, 2016.
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Chief Administrative Officer
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Schedule A
Investments Held as at April30, 2016

Scotia Bank
11%
MFA Bond Fund
53%

arket Fund
3%

MFA Intennediate
fund
33%

INVEST.l\llENT MIX
Investments
Balance
Bank Accounts
Scotia Bank
Short Tem1 Investments
MFA Money Market Fund
Long Tenn Investments
MFA Intem1ediate Fund
MF i\ Bond Fund
Long Term Investments Total
Total Investments

$

%of
Group
Total

Max
Allowable per
Investment
Policy

13,687,975

100%

100%

3,583,549

100%

100%

40,385,396
64,919,774
I 05,305,170

38%
62%
100%

50%
50%

$ 122,576,694
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Schedule B
Annualized Rates of Return on MFA Funds
As at April 30, 2016

Growth

Schedule B
Annualized Rates of Return on MFA Funds
As at April 30, 2016

7.00%
6.00%
5.00%
4.00%
3.00%
2.00%
1.00%
0.00%

MFA Money Market Fund

4.14% 3.89%
0.25% 0.10%

0.76% 0.33%

Year- to-Date %
Non-annualized

One Year %
Annualized
Period

Since Inception %
Annualized

MFA Intermediate Fund
7.00%
Growth

6.00%
5.00%
3.00%
2.00%
1.00%
0.00%

Growth

3.76% 3.40%

4.00%

7.00%
6.00%
5.00%
4.00%
3.00%
2.00%
1.00%
0.00%

0.33% 0.01%

1.15% 0.39%

Year- to-Date %
Non-annualized

One Year %
Annualized
Period

Since Inception %
Annualized

MFA Bond Fund

0.64% 0.22%
Year- to-Date %
Non-annualized

6.35% 6.06%

1.78% 1.23%

One Year %
Annualized

Since Inception %
Annualized

Period
Municipal Finance Authority
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REPORT
Parks & Recreation
To:

Mayor Coté and Members of Council

Date:

5/30/2016

From:

Dean Gibson
Director of Parks and Recreation

File:

05.1040.10

Item #:

184/2016

Subject:

Street Food Vending at Westminster Pier Park

RECOMMENDATION
THAT a trial Street Food vending pilot project at Westminster Pier Park be approved
and that staff be directed to proceed with next steps as outlined in this report.

SUMMARY
In response to Council’s direction to examine options for the expansion of the Street Food
vending program into Westminster Pier Park, staff have identified three potential locations
within or adjacent to the park.
1. Private Parking Lot immediately outside of the west entrance to the park
2. On the west end of the Timber Wharf
3. Adjacent to the Festival Lawn
Each of the locations has its own unique associated access challenges and opportunities. In
addition, the introduction of Street Food vending at the park may have impacts on the City
run Eats at the Pier operation. It is proposed that a trial pilot project be approved for 2016 at
the location immediately outside of the west entrance to the park and that staff work with the
street food vending industry to develop operating guidelines, associated amendments to the
Mobile Food Vending Licence Bylaw and a possible fee structure for permits for the
potential use of Westminster Pier Park in subsequent years.
BACKGROUND
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Over the past several months, the City has been developing a Street Food Vending Program
to enable broader sales from Food Trucks in key locations across the City. As part of this
initiative, Council has directed staff to investigate the feasibility of expanding Street Food
vending into Westminster Pier Park.
The 2015 season represented the first year that Eats at the Pier (EATP) in Westminster Pier
Park was in full operation as a City run operation. As noted in a recent staff report to
Council, sales at EATP were relatively modest over the course of the 2015 season and
resulted in the requirement for an operating subsidy. Based on available park attendance
figures, an average of 160 people passed the concession area per hour of operation with an
average of 10 people making a purchase.
EXISTING POLICY/PRACTICE
Parks Regulation Bylaw #3646 stipulates that no person shall distribute, sell or expose for
sale any goods or services in any park without the prior consent of the Director of Parks,
Culture and Recreation. Furthermore, Parks and Recreation Fees and Charges Bylaw #6673
establishes authority to levy fees for the commercial use of public park areas.
In 2013, Council approved the “Sale of Goods and Concession Services in Parks and
Recreation Facilities and Outdoor Spaces” policy. This policy identifies the process by
which commercial vending may be accommodated within the City’s parks and identifies a
daily permit fee. While a permitting framework is outlined in this policy, the policy does not
contemplate an ongoing, regular presence of commercial operators in city parks such as is
currently being considered with food trucks and mobile food vending. This Park Policy is
acknowledged in the current Food Truck Policy and in applicable Business Licensing fees.
DISCUSSION
Site Options
Three locations have been identified as potential food truck locations at Westminster Pier
Park:
1. Private Parking Lot immediately outside of the west entrance to the park
2. On the west end of the Timber Wharf
3. Adjacent to the Festival Lawn
1. Private Parking Lot – The primary surface level parking lot for visitors to
Westminster Pier Park is located on private lands immediately outside the west entry
point to the park (see Figure 1). While the City has a right-of-way through this lot to
permit public access to the park, the City does not manage or control the parking
function. Ultimately, the availability of this site for food truck vending would be
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determined by the property owner. This location provides high visibility and easy
access to the park and is also within very close proximity to one of the park’s two
playground areas. As the potential site is located outside of the park, it does not
present some of the site access logistical challenges present with other options
discussed later in this report. Additionally, as the potential first point of contact for
many park visitors, this location has the potential to intercept customers who may
otherwise make purchases at EATP.
Should this location option be supported by Council, staff will work with the property
owner to attempt to facilitate site access on behalf of street fo od vendors.

Figure 1 - Private Parking Lot
2. Timber Wharf (West end) – North-West corner of the Timber Wharf (see Figure 2).
This corner is not currently used for any ongoing park programming. The area has the
potential for strong food sales due to its proximity to the popular sand volleyball
courts, urban beach, water spray features and public hammocks. It is located
approximately 100 metres away from the City operated EATP.
This location does present some logistical issues associated with moving in and out of
the park as driving corridors are quite narrow and the driveway access points to the
park are secured with locked bollards and/or fencing. Access to this location would
necessitate either staff managing daily site access and egress, or providing a
prospective Food Truck operator with keys to access this site. This approach would
be contrary to that employed on City streets where site access is significantly easier, is
available on a “first come, first served basis” and does not rely on City staff resources.
Utilization of this location would likely require “pre-qualification” of a select group
of operators to ensure they are properly oriented to safely drive a vehicle within the
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park and amongst members of the public. This location may be better served by
either a smaller sized food truck or a small food cart.

Figure 2 -Timber Wharf (West end)
3. Adjacent to Festival Lawn – While situated in a very prominent area of the park, use
of this location (see Figure 3) would be contrary to the principle of City’s Food Truck
Policy that states “No trucks can operate within 100 meters of a brick and mortar
business with a similar concept or theme”. Should this location receive further
consideration, it recommended that the menu offerings of the vendor be restricted
such that there is no duplication with the EATP menu.
This location also presents similar site access challenges inherent with the Timber
Wharf option. The prominence of this location would have a visual impact through
the park and, from some vantage points, from the park towards the river.
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Figure 3 - Adjacent to Festival Lawn

Additional Considerations Related to Westminster Pier Park:
 Significant portions of Westminster Pier Park are constructed on concrete decks and
piles and as such have weight restrictions. Accordingly, while the pier should be able
to accommodate the majority of food trucks, maximum weight restrictions do apply.
 Certain zones of the Timber Wharf have been identified by the City’s Engineering
Department as unable to sustain the weight of some larger food trucks, particularly on
an ongoing basis.
 Unlike City streets and designated parking areas, much of the park is designed for
pedestrian movement. Service lanes in the park were designed with the assumption
that only a limited number of vehicle operators would be traveling through the park
and that those persons would be appropriately oriented in safe vehicle operation at
that specific site.
Accordingly, management of the movement of all vehicles, including food trucks and
food carts, is required to ensure public safety and protection of the park’s physical assets.
Implications for Eats at the Pier
It is likely that the presence of Street Food (Food Truck) vending at Westminster Pier Park
will impact the overall revenues of the City’s food service operation at Eats at the Pier. The
extent of this impact is not known at this time and it will only be through an initial trial
period that staff will be in a better position to report on the actual impact on services and
revenues at Westminster Pier Park. As noted in previous staff reports, there are also a
significant number of other food service operations within 0.5 km of Westminster Pier Park
and the 2015 EATP operations did require an annual operating subsidy.
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Private Street Food vendors will likely be motived to operate at Westminster Pier Park only
during those days and times when visits to the park are at peak levels. These are the same
times that EATP relies of higher volume sales to help offset operating expenses during those
time of the week when demand is lower, but it is still preferred to have the service in the park
due to the additional benefits associated with enhanced customer services including
providing information on City services, loaning of sport and play equipment, and being able
to respond and/or report issues that require attention in a timely manner.
In order to help offset the impact of street food vending within the park while still facilitating
access, it proposed that menu offerings by street food vendors be required to remain different
and distinct from that offered at EATP. Furthermore, it is proposed that site access
guidelines be developed to help manage the challenges inherent with access and moving
within the Westminster Pier Park site. It is proposed that staff work with the Street Food
vending industry in 2016 to develop operating guidelines, associated amendments to the
Mobile Food Vending Licence Bylaw, and a possible fee structure for permits for the
potential use of Westminster Pier Park in 2017 and beyond
Next Steps
It is proposed that the City move forward with street food vending on a one year trial basis as
Westminster Pier Park. On that basis, the following is recommended:
1. Establish the west parking lot entrance to Westminster Pier Park as the pilot location
for the 2016 season in accordance with the City’s Street Food Vending/ Food Truck
policies for a one year trial period. Staff to work with the property owner to facilitate
access by Street Food (food truck) vendors. Pending evaluation of the success and
impact of this location, consider expanding/relocating the service to within
Westminster Pier Park in 2017 should the parking lot not be available in subsequent
years.
2. Work with the Street Food vending industry in 2016 to develop operating guidelines,
associated amendments to the Mobile Food Vending Licence Bylaw, and a possible
fee structure for permits for the potential use of Westminster Pier Park in 2017 and
beyond. The Guidelines will be established to address the challenges associated with
Street Food vending as outlined in this report.

SUSTAINABILITY CONSIDERATIONS
Financial Impact - The 2015 operating subsidy for EATP was $20,100. The impact of
introducing Street Food vending at Westminster Pier Park can only be properly assessed
after a trial period.
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Social Impact – EATP supports employment opportunities for local youth with limited or no
previous work experience. Food services at Westminster Pier Park are a vital element in
helping to activate the site. While not yet a “food destination”, an increased variety of food
offerings at the park may help in this regard.
OPTIONS
1. Approve a trial Street Food vending pilot project at Westminster Pier Park and direct
staff to proceed with next steps as outlined in this report.
2. Provide staff with alternate direction.
Option #1is recommended.
CONCLUSION
Expanding the Street Food Program into Westminster Pier Park has the potential to help
Westminster Pier Park become a destination for food and beverages by leveraging off the
current public interest in Food Trucks, street vending and the unique riverfront setting of the
park.

This report has been prepared by
Jim Luu
Assistant Manager, Queen's Park
This report was reviewed by:
Approved for Presentation to Council

Dean Gibson
Director of Parks and Recreation
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REPORT
Engineering Services
To:

Mayor Coté and Members of Council
in Open Council Workshop

Date:

5/30/2016

From:

Jim Lowrie
Director of Engineering Services

File:

09.1716.20

Item #:

181/2016

Subject:

Proposed Widening of Blackley Street

RECOMMENDATION
THAT Council receive this report for information.

PURPOSE
The purpose of this report is to provide Council with drawings which show the proposed
widening of Blackley Street, depicting the ultimate design and the interim design that would
be constructed in the short term, prior to all of the required land being dedicated.
BACKGROUND
Blackley Street is the main east-west spine road providing circulation and access to lands
within the Queensborough Special Study Area (QSSA). The QSSA includes privately owned
lands and City owned lands that are currently under contract for sale to Platform
Development Ltd. and which is expected to be completed upon rezoning. Through the
rezoning process it has been identified that Blackley Street needs to be widened to meet City
minimum urban road standards. Dedication from adjacent lands through development is
required to bring Blackley Street to this urban standard, as the existing road allowance is
only ten metres (33 feet). At the May 9, 2016 meeting, Council passed the following
resolutions:
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THAT Council direct staff to require an equal road dedication from both the
north and the south sides of Blackley Street to achieve the widening of the road
allowance to16.5 metres, with parking only on one side of the street.
THAT staff report back to Council with renderings of the ultimate design and of
the interim design that would be constructed in the short term, prior to all of the
required land being dedicated.
ANALYSIS/DISCUSSION
Provided in Attachment 1 are drawings depicting the ultimate design of Blackley and the
interim design that would be constructed in the short term.
The proposed designs include:
Ultimate Condition (16.5 m road allowance)





2 - 3.0 m wide vehicle travel lanes (shared with cyclists)
parking bays on north side only
2 m planted boulevard on each side
2 m sidewalk on each side

Interim Condition (13.25 m road allowance, adjacent platform frontage)





2 - 3.0 m wide vehicle travel lanes (shared with cyclist)
parking bays on north side only
2.0 m planted boulevard (north side)
2.0 m sidewalk (north side)

Interim Condition (10 m road allowance, adjacent remaining frontage)
 2 - 3.0 m wide vehicle travel lanes (shared with cyclist)
 3.25 m temporary asphalt sidewalk
 no parking bays
OPTIONS
The following options are presented for Council’s consideration:
1. That Council receive this report for information; and
2. That Council provide alternative direction to staff.
Staff recommends Option 1.
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Attachment 1- Blackley Street, Ultimate Design and Interim Design

This report has been prepared by
Lisa Leblanc, P.Eng., Manager, Transportation

Approved for Presentation to Council

Jim Lowrie, Eng.L, MBA
Director of Engineering Services
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Attachment 1
Blackley Street
Ultimate Design and Interim Design

There is no Report with this Item.
Please see Attachment(s).
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May 10,2016
His Worship
Mayor Jonathan X. Cote
Corporation of the City of New Westminster
511 Royal Avenue
New Westminster BC V3L 1H9

Reference: 253591

Dear Mayor Cote:

Re:

Uber and Transportation Network Companies

Thank you for your letter of January 25, 2016, sent on behalf of the New Westminster City
Council, expressing concerns about the operation of Uber in British Columbia and other
transportation network companies.
The ministry recognizes that British Columbians' preferred travel choices are evolving and that
there is a strong desire for consumers and the travelling public to have more choice and
innovation when it comes to passenger service. That being said, I want to assure you the safety
of the travelling public is, and will always be, our number one priority, and any new services
and passenger options will not be welcome at the expense of passenger safety. All those
seeking to provide these services anywhere in B.C. must respect the current regulatory system.
The Passenger Transportation Act requires any vehicle operated by the person who charges or
collects compensation for transporting passengers to be licensed.
We are currently monitoring the challenges and opportunities that are being realized in other
jurisdictions that have allowed transportation network companies to operate in their markets,
and we are assessing options for British Columbia. As you may be aware, my colleague, the
Honourable Peter Fassbender, Minister of Community, Sport and Cultural Development, has
been consulting with a wide array of stakeholders, including elected officials and
representatives from the taxi industry, and transportation network companies to ensure those
with an interest in this dialogue are heard and included as part of government's exploration and
careful study of this topic.
.. ./2

Ministry of Transportation
and Infrastructure

Office of the Minister

Mailing Address:
Parliament Buildings
Victoria BC VBV 1X4

-2 -

Should you have any questions about this matter, please do not hesitate to contact the
ministry's Registrar and Director, Passenger Transportation Branch, Kristin Vanderkuip.
Ms. Vanderkuip can be reached at 604 527-2201 or at Kristin.Vanderkuip@gov.bc.ca and
would be pleased to speak with you.

Thank you again for taking the time to write.
Sincerely,

Todd G. Stone
Minister

Copy to:

Honourable Peter Fassbender
Minister of Community, Sport and Cultural Development
MLA, Surrey-Fleetwood
Kristin V anderkuip, Registrar and Director
Passenger Transportation Branch

There is no Report with this Item.
Please see Attachment(s).

DATE:
TO:
FROM:
RE:

May 6, 2016
Honorable Minister of Health, Dr. Jane Philpot
Joy Davies, 2015 Liberal Candidate, South Surrey-White Rock
Platform Suggestion for Compassionate Medical Cannabis Access

Good Morning Honorable Minister:
I would like to take this opportunity to respectfully resubmit a medical cannabis access
model that the provinces, under federal government oversight, could modify for their
individual use as they develop provincial regulations. This model requires very few
taxpayer dollars to administer and meets the needs of patients, government, and law
enforcement while protecting and keeping safe our youth and the community at large.
The model was developed in 2010 and was written as an overview to allow the
provinces to adapt implementation details to suit their specific requirements.
Please refer to the attached documents. I thank you in advance for your time and effort
to review this model again to ensure that the ideas contained therein are duly
considered during current discussions.
I anticipate that there are many stakeholder needs that you will wish to satisfy as you
develop health policy that the provinces can follow. If there is any way that I can be of
assistance to you or your staff, please know that I wish to assist in any way you deem
appropriate.
Why am I resubmitting this model to you for further consideration?
As mentioned, I would like to ensure that the public is well-protected by any regulatory
changes related to the medical use of cannabis.
Also, this is an issue that is of concern to myself personally. I will share my story with
you only because it represents the very difficult journey thousands of Canadians with
health issues live through when they require cannabis as a part of their medical
protocol. I have been under my doctor’s care as a medical cannabis patient since 2003
(at age 54). I was not a consumer of cannabis in any way prior to my medical use.
After a life-changing motor vehicle accident, I was subjected to 13 prescription
pharmaceuticals that kept me primarily in bed with very little quality of life from 19972003 and I was diagnosed with fibromyalgia in 2000. I was introduced to the potential
benefits of medical cannabis by a friend who had found good success utilizing cannabis
medicinally. Since then, I have been able to eliminate all my prescription medications
until recently. (I am now taking one medication, Losartan 50 mg for high blood pressure
resulting from my body’s reaction to both of my daughters being diagnosed with breast
cancer 6 weeks apart in the fall of 2014 while I was also engaged in a challenging federal
election campaign as a nominee (then elected Liberal Candidate) in a hotly contested
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nomination.) Although I am still disabled, the daily consumption of medicinal cannabis,
under the guidance of my physician, has allowed me to return to a fairly active life.
Therefore, because I have personally observed profound medical benefits that properly
supervised medical cannabis can provide, I feel compelled to bring my knowledge of
governmental protocol and regulations to resubmit ideas that do not appear to have
been given adequate weight in recent discussions.
My personal background:
I am a former City Councillor in the province of BC. I was appointed to the first City
Council in Tumbler Ridge in 1984-85 (1 year term) and elected City Councillor in 198689. After I returned to the Vancouver area, I held a variety of positions including
contractor to the BC Ministry of Small Business, Small Business Coordinator at
Vancouver Community College. I was a Liberal candidate in the Vancouver 1991
provincial election and a federal Liberal campaign manager in 1993. In 1994, I began a
film and TV talent agency working primarily with Eastern European actors which
garnered much success until 1997 when I was disabled after the traumatic car accident
previously mentioned. (I was hit by a car that ran a red light.) By 2000, my doctor
advised me that if I did not stop working I would live with the most severe symptoms of
fibromyalgia forever. Following upon his advice, I closed my agency and struggled
through much loss including that of my home and the dissolution of my marriage. It
took close to 2 years to be approved as a person with disability and the financial journey
was devastating. My savings ran out in one year and I had to resort to being supported
through the system of Social Assistance at $600 per month. When my federal disability
was approved, my monthly income increased to $900 per month. I became one of the
living statistics that is referred to as “persons living with disabilities”.
In 2005, I moved to Grand Forks, BC to care for my aging mother who suffered from
Alzheimer’s. She died of lung cancer in 2011. During my 7 years in Grand Forks, I was
elected to City Council in 2008 - finishing my term in 2011 to return to White Rock, BC.
Our council remuneration was approximately $1,100 per month. In the fall of 2009, I
made a fact-finding trip to the State of Oregon where I met with the Head of Oregon’s
Medical Cannabis program; members of the first steering committee of Oregon; and
patients and growers who lived under the State of Oregon’s program.
Due to government barriers in place preventing legal access to medical cannabis which
was essential to alleviate my medical conditions, I lived as “a criminal in the eyes of the
law” for many years. Why? In 2003, I was able to find a doctor who would sign my
application forms to access medical cannabis through the BC Compassion Club Society.
However, despite medical cannabis being recommended for me by my physician, it took
until 2008 for me to attain my federal permission to legally use medical cannabis. I am
now allowed to grow and consume five grams maximum per day. The main barrier was
finding a doctor who not only recommended it for my medical issues but who was also
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willing also to sign Health Canada (HC) papers. Finding a doctor to sign for legal medical
access continues to be a challenge in 2016.
Limitations on access to medical cannabis also affected me on another very personal
level: On December 1, 2008, a dear friend, age 59, took her life as she could no longer
cope with the debilitating symptoms of her rare neuropathic disease - erythromelalgia
(Mitchel’s disease). She was under her doctor’s care for 10 years prior and had been
given numerous prescription drugs which were not helpful. I provided my friend with
Health Canada’s MMAR application forms to access medical cannabis because peerreviewed authoritative medical studies indicated cannabis would benefit neuropathic
diseases such as erythomelalgia. However, her doctors refused to sign the HC papers.
Instead, they prescribed methadone to battle her symptoms which resulted in caused a
terrible, completely avoidable journey of addiction which she was able to finally selfrecover from. My friend was not the type of person to go against her doctor’s
recommendations and so suffered without a suitable replacement medication to
alleviate her symptoms. A former professional woman now consumed by her disease,
at the end of her life she was reduced to crawling on the floor – a completely isolated as
a senior, single woman. My friend was no longer strong enough to bare the daily
onslaught of her disease symptoms and chose to use the leftover methadone to take
her life. Her suicide note said simply, and heartbreakingly: “Remember me the way I
was”. Properly supervised medical cannabis could have prevented the quality of her
life from deteriorating to such a horrendous degree resulting from the ineffective,
addictive, destructive effects of the prescribed opioids in the form of methadone.
As an elected representative in my community, it can be easily understood that I could
not in good conscience allow more such terrible and avoidable situations to take place
without attempting to find a political solution for other patients in British Columbia and
Canada. Patients who came forward were subjected to possible loss of liberty, isolation
and much more. As an elected official I believed to be my responsibility to protect them
by standing up publically for them. In my mind, my friend’s suicide was a representation
of thousands of others who could be helped by medicinal cannabis but, having no
access, lose hope and take their lives. It is my understanding that the number of such
cases in BC is over 500 per year.
In March 2009, at the council table I publically came forward with my personal
background as a medical cannabis patient. I initiated a resolution to decentralize the
MMAR to the provinces. Unfortunately, the resolution was not endorsed by my city
council. After much research, I was confident that a decentralized MMAR was the
correct platform for medical cannabis access according to the Canada Health Act and
recommended by the LeDaine Commission Report.
I forwarded my views to a
councillor at the City of Victoria where the resolution was later endorsed and also
submitted to and endorsed by both UBCM (2010) and FCM (2011).
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As you can see, my journey into this compassionate advocacy has been very long and
very difficult. After disclosing that I am a medical cannabis patient I encountered many
challenges: My church elders stated that I could not teach Sunday school any longer
and indicated that I was considered suspect to the point that they were going to do a
criminal check on me. I became shunned to the point where lost my small summer
business as the church members stopped patronizing it and told members of the
community to do the same. Why? Simply because, during my attempts to facilitate
discussion about adequate regulation, I had disclosed that I was a medical cannabis
patient. The stigma resulting from my disclosure was such that members of the
community began to refuse my company to the point that they would literally cross the
street to the other side rather than have to walk past me. Again, all because I
supported full discussion of a topic that has been on the agenda of both the provincial
and federal governments for many years. At that point the plant was “legal” in Canada
for 8 years.
(As a side note: Grand Forks was a hub of illegal growers of cannabis and I suggest that
many of the community members were threatened by my work because provincial
regulation would minimize their profit base. I encountered many stressful situations
including an attempted bribe whereby I was asked to limit my input on regulations for
the benefit of patients. It was then that I realized the importance of well-researched
regulation of medical cannabis in order to provide dignity to patient while getting
medicine out of the hands of organized crime and protecting our children and
communities.
Moving forward with regulation:
Clearly the stigma and demonization of this important medical plant resulting from the
era of prohibition has caused great harm. Use of this plant should not be a panacea but
rather a regulated, informed medical choice.
As a result of my trip to Oregon, I
developed the attached model of a provincial medical cannabis access platform for BC
(now modified for use by all provinces with federal government oversight). It was
originally submitted as a provincial pilot project and demanded partnership of all levels
of government, law enforcement, the medical community, and patients. The model has
been circulated through the political community for some time and has gained overall
acceptance in principle. It is of value to note that the State of Oregon legalized and
strictly regulated medical cannabis dispensaries in 2015 as it recognized that
dispensaries provide important, educated face-to-face service to patients.
Unfortunately, during the Harper government regime there was no political will to move
any model forward in such a manner.
At the beginning of this eight-year process, I consulted with BC Minister of Health staff,
Public Health officials, Members of the Legislative Assembly, Members of Parliament,
doctors, naturopaths, and lawyers to facilitate their input on the model. I also made
presentations to City Councils and Mayors, asking them to encourage the province to
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“do the right thing”. I consulted with all of these stakeholders to ensure that my vision
was considered a reasonable direction for provincial medical cannabis access reform. I
attained my first letter of support in principle for this model from my former MP, Alex
Atamanenko (2010) and the second letter from the Regional District of Kootenay
Boundary the same year.
When I moved back from Grand Forks to the BC Lower Mainland in 2012, I had no
intention to continue this very challenging, compassionate work until my Liberal MLA,
Gordon Hogg, having reviewed the attached proposal, asked me to continue and this I
have done. I served as a Director at Large on my federal riding association for 3 years
and when asked to consider running for the nomination, I agreed. After a contested
nomination process, I became the 2015 Liberal Candidate. Unfortunately I did not finish
the journey through to election day. Once again, the stigma accorded this subject stung
me: The Huffington Post spun and sensationalized my reference to a double blind, peerreviewed medical study on morning sickness by Doctor Melanie Dreher.
http://www.druglibrary.org/SCHAFFER/hemp/medical/can-babies.htm
.This
latest
unwarranted and incorrect attack was one of the most difficult days of my life: I had to
make a decision to resign from the campaign to protect our leader, Justin Trudeau, and
our federal campaign. Despite the shocking way that my reference to medical research
was twisted and used against me, I was very encouraged that Justin Trudeau had earlier
publically stated that if elected the Liberal government he would work with the
provinces to develop dignified medical cannabis access programs. Although recreational
legalization to this plant may be appropriate and fulfill the rights of Canadians under the
Charter of Rights and Freedoms, the model for medical access must be a completely
separate model which is why I reach out to you today.
Honorable Minister, as mentioned previously, I anticipate that there are many
stakeholder needs that you will wish to satisfy as you develop health policy that the
provinces can follow. If there is any way that I can be of assistance to you or your staff,
please know that I am here to continue serving.
I look forward to your response.
Joy Davies
2015 Liberal Candidate, South Surrey-White Rock BC
Cell: 604-910-8443
Email: joydavies0@gmail.com
Attachments:
1.
8 Benefits for the provinces to administer dignified medical cannabis
programs under federal oversight
2.
Canadian Issues & Solutions to dignified medical cannabis access
3.
Proposal outline for provincial dignified medical cannabis program.
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UBCM (2010) and FCM(2011) endorsed resolution B 146
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PROPOSAL TO DECENTRALIZE
the Federal Medical Marijuana Program to the Provinces of Canada
THE ISSUE:
How to provide dignified access to high quality medical cannabis to Canadian patients.
Canada has the opportunity to become the world leader in medical cannabis access by creating a
compassionately designed platform of regulations, legislation and a system to provide safe, dignified, local
access to medical cannabis for Canadian patients at an affordable price through a consultative partnership
of all stakeholders.
BARRIERS:
• Federal level bureaucratic processes, protocols, expense, supply system and demands
eclipse patient needs, access and reality.
THE SOLUTIONS:
• Design a platform model involving a partnership between the primary stakeholders being patients,
medical community, public health community, law enforcement, federal, provincial and municipal
governments that will allow patients to be treated equally and with dignity throughout Canada. A program
that could be cost recoverable and self-sustaining.
• Develop and implement regulations allowing the use of store front medical cannabis dispensaries
- be they independent or federally licensed producers (LP’s) - for provision of patient education and
distribution of medical cannabis.
• Supporting the 2016 Federal Court of Canada “ALLARD” decision, ensure patients maintain the ability to
grow their own medicine, and/or designate a grower to provide the specific strain of cannabis needed to
relieve symptoms of their illness.
• Ensure that health care providers, community and relevant government staff are thoroughly educated in
indications/contraindications/precautions for use of medical cannabis, the proper uses of cannabis and it's
many forms or choice of ingestion.
Consider including medical cannabis costs under provincial pharmaceutical programs.
Enable a variety of health care professionals, (e.g. Naturopaths, nurse practitioners and/or other
provincially approved health care practitioners) as well as General Practitioners (physicians) to have the
ability to prescribe cannabis for their patients ensuring there is no “gatekeeper” preventing dignified
access to patients.
• Ensure that the approval and delivery process allows immediate access for the patient (and/or their
designated support person, care provider or Power of Attorney designate in vies of non-terminal patients
with severe disabilities and chronic diseases) to obtain cannabis medication as they currently do for all
pharmaceutical medications.
• Regulate and inspect commercial production of dried cannabis and related medicinal cannabis forms (i.e.
oils, tinctures, baked products, hash, lozenges, juicing, etc.)
• Consult with patients and caregivers that are knowledgeable and sensitive to the patients’ needs.

•
•

•

Ensure that the careful selection of provincially licensed growers are restricted to volume quotas to deter
the possibility of collusion and/or cartels which will discourage the criminal element from becoming
involved.
CONTACT:
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EIGHT BENEFITS FOR THE PROVINCES TO ADMINISTER MEDICAL CANNABIS
PROGRAMS UNDER FEDERAL OVERSIGHT
Canada has the opportunity to become a world leader by creating a compassionately designed cost recoverable model
of regulations and a system to provide safe, dignified, local access to medical cannabis to patients.
1. GENERAL REVENUES:
* The proposal recommends that a nominal user fee be charged to the patient to attain their provincial license to access
medical cannabis. The program may not have to be subsidized by the taxpayers, thereby reducing provincial and federal
expenses in health care. (The State of Oregon charges user fees cover the cost of operating their State medical cannabis
program which has been operating successfully since 1997.
2. PATIENT NEEDS ARE MET:
Patients’ need for dignified, immediate, safe, affordable, local access to their medicine will be met once their
provincially approved medical care giver ( doctor, naturopath, nurse practitioner) provides approval and the patient pays
their user fee.
3. FAMILIES RE SUPPORTED:
When members of families are ill, families become stressed and family life is turned upside down. When pharmaceutical
medications either do not work or come with debilitating side-effects, families suffer. Having a Canadian designed and
implemented system to easily and legally access cannabis for medical purposes may remove some of the problems
associated with illness including providing a higher quality of life and/or an easier end of life process.
4. SAFER COMMUNITIES:
As provincial regulations and inspections are developed and implemented to commercial growers and outlets there
would be less risk of fire, or mould created by poor growing conditions and there would be no need to steal electricity.
Impact may be (i) less gang related crimes around cannabis activities and (ii) possibly lowering of the government cost of
policing plus Court costs and time. (iii) There may be less law enforcement violation of patients’ rights who may be
illegally raided by some law enforcement officers thereby our citizens may be able to live a life with less fear.
5. HEALTHIER COMMUNITIES:
Cannabis has been proven (over 22,000 peer reviewed studies have been done) to allow a person to lead a healthier,
more productive life as it benefits many different illnesses, both of the terminally ill and those living with chronic pain. It
is anticipated that there are over 1 million people in each province being positively benefited with use of this medication.
The ageing population and related illnesses is projected to increase demand. Children with epilepsy or brain tumours are
proving to benefit from CDB medical cannabis oil.
6. REDUCED HEALTH CARE BUDGETS:
Prescription drug costs may be reduced as well as doctor and hospital visit time reduced.
7. JOBS IN AGRICULTURE and ADMINISTRATION:
Each region may grow and produce the medicine using the existing and new Health Ministry inspectors to ensure clean,
safe medicine for the patients in their region. A variety of jobs may be re-assigned in government and new jobs in the
agriculture industry including growing, inspecting, picking, producing, transporting, lab work, medical cannabis outlet
staff.
8. CARBON NEUTRALITY:
As long haul trucks and airplanes would not be required to ship the medication long distances there may be a smaller
carbon footprint left by these industries.
Contact:
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Proposal for a Provincial Government
Platform to provide
Safe, Legal, Local,
Dignified Access to Medical Cannabis

It is time to ensure that:
•
•

Patient needs are not eclipsed by bureaucratic needs

Patients, children, communities, firemen and law enforcement officers are kept safe
•

Local communities and the province economically benefit
from a

De-centralized model of medical cannabis production and distribution

Contact:
Joy Davies
Cell: 604-910-8443
E: joydavies0@gmail.com
2015 Federal Liberal Candidate, South Surrey-White Rock

*
This proposal is a tool to develop the data necessary to design a successful working
platform of a provincial medical cannabis program implementing compassionate provincial
regulations and legislation. Should it be designed as a pilot project Suggested timeline is 3 – 5
years.

__________________________________________
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Introduction
Although cannabis is currently an approved herbal alternative medicine in Canada for the
treatment of a wide variety of illnesses, chronic conditions, and their serious symptoms, access is
unnecessarily restrictive and an extremely time consuming, expensive process for patients.
Health Canada’s Marihuana Medical Program Regulations (MMPR) regulates access to medical
cannabis for all Canadians from one central office. Due to being chronically under-funded and
short staffed, MMPR, and the former Medical Marihuana Access Regulations (MMAR)
programs have been unable to address the fundamental need for consistent access to high quality
medical cannabis. Some constitutional lawyers consider the MMPR unconstitutional.
This proposal suggests that in partnership with the federal government the provinces take
leadership roles in Canada by administering their own Medical Cannabis program that will put
patient needs first, improve the provincial economies and satisfy fire and law enforcement needs
while protecting our children and communities. This can be successfully done by partnering with
the regional districts of each province. As an example the Regional Districts may suggest
communities in each region to be the “pilot community” and provide temporary grants of
regulatory powers over production and distribution of medical cannabis for the purpose of
developing data to develop a “provincially designed” medical cannabis access program.
Under this proposal framework it is suggested that members of Regional Agricultural Societies,
be contracted to grow several strains of high grade, clean, medical cannabis, under appropriate
security, under license by the appropriate office of their respective provincial government, and
be subject to inspection by provincial health systems and inspected by their health inspectors.
In addition, compassion clubs/dispensaries (– for the rest of this paper will be referred to as
“dispensaries” and may be non-profit societies, corporations or an arm of the federally licensed
producers) would sell legally grown, locally produced cannabis to patients who are qualified
members authorized by their medical practitioner, homeopath, naturopath or other provincially
designated medical practitioner. The dispensary will sell raw, dried, and cured cannabis, edible
cannabis products as well as cannabis extract products (cannabis oils) produced by local
provincially licensed food producers.
This proposal suggests keeping the dollars earned in the production of medical cannabis and
related products in the province, but more importantly, this proposal shows how easy,
manageable, and cost effective this provincial model of producing and distributing medical
cannabis under provincial authority and regulation can be sustainable while maintaining the
federal “legalization” for medical purposes while contributing to the development of a “green
economy”.
Health Canada may only retain an arm’s length attachment to medical cannabis licensing,
production, distribution, and use, saving the taxpayer and the medical patient the unnecessary
costs and stress of current ineffective approaches. Although Health Canada has developed a new
model for implementation in 2014, many have seen that the new federal changes caused more
harm to patients than the previous model.
Contact:
Cell: 604-910-8443
E: joydavies0@gmail.com
2015 Federal Liberal Candidate, South Surrey-White Rock BC

With a growing seniors population and costs of increasing prescription drug needs currently
being projected, governments would do well to streamline access to this relatively safe, low-cost
herbal medicine, which can supplement prescription drugs objectives and in some cases replace
the need to use prescription drugs altogether in addition to reducing doctor visits. (Cannabis as a
substitute for alcohol and other drugs: A dispensary-based survey of substitution effect in
Canadian medical cannabis patients. Philippe Lucas1, Amanda Reiman2, Mitch Earleywine3,
Stephanie K. McGowan4,Megan Oleson5, Michael P. Coward6*, & Brian Thomas)
The most beneficial model of any treatment involves patient choice. Some patients will want to
continue acquiring their cannabis in the same manner as they have and they should be allowed to
continue. This includes patients continuing to grow their own medical gardens or working with
co-operatives. In addition there is room for regulated and inspected commercial growers. With
new greenhouse technology certain green houses systems will allow for the growing of medical
cannabis for under $60/ pound. This ensures affordable prices to patients who wish to purchase
their medicine through a dispensary setting. It also allows for the many varieties of cannabis
strains needed to accommodate individual patient needs and metabolism.
Contrary to popular belief, Cannabis is one of the most studied plants in western science and
medicine and yet so many in dire need of its plethora of beneficial effects are denied access
because of complacency and inaction. It is a sad commentary on our health system that the
recommendations of Canada’s LeDainCommissionof1972,
http://www.druglibrary.org/schaffer/library/studies/ledain/ldctoc.html
which suggested that the provinces regulate the production and distribution of cannabis, were
ignored.
“Conclusions and Recommendations of Marie-Andree Bertrand
The federal government should remove cannabis from the Narcotic Control Act, as the
Commission recommended in its Interim Report.
The federal government should immediately initiate discussions with the provincial governments
to have the sale and use of cannabis placed under controls similar to those governing the sale
and use of alcohol, including legal prohibition of unauthorized distribution and analogous age
restrictions. Furthermore, this government-distributed cannabis should be marketed at a quality
and price that would make the 'black market' sale of the drug an impractical enterprise.
The federal government should initiate a program to develop efficient practical methods for
cannabis production and marketing in Canada. A standard form of natural marijuana would
seem to be most feasible at this stage, but hashish and synthetic preparations should also be
explored.
The federal government should initiate prospective multidisciplinary epidemiological research to
monitor and evaluate changes in the extent and patterns of the use of cannabis and other drugs,
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and to explore possible consequences to health, and personal and social behaviour, resulting
from the controlled legal distribution of cannabis.
All stages of the production and marketing of cannabis should be conducted by the federal
and/or provincial governments.”
This is precisely the model for medical cannabis distribution that would work best and could be
tailor-made to suit the needs of each province.
In 2002, the Senate Special Committee on Illegal Drugs produced a report studying cannabis in
detail:
http://iheartfreedom.ca/science-health-a-tech/40-science-health-a-technology-articles/79canadian-senate-special-committee-on-illegal-drugs-2002-report.
Specifically, in relation to medical cannabis the senate committee recommended licensing and
legally recognizing dispensaries already in operation. More recently, Lucas (2008) identified the
licensing of dispensaries as a solution to the serious problem of client suffering and the delay in
accessing medical cannabis, “Canada’s community-based dispensaries supply medical cannabis
to a far greater number of patients than the MMPR but their work is currently unregulated by any
level of government, leaving these organizations and their clients vulnerable to arrest and
prosecution”.
Ideally, this project will bring that day closer for the other dispensaries that have been operating
across Canada since as early as 1997. We invite the reader to carefully and seriously consider
this new model as the best and most cost effective, patient-friendly and government-friendly way
to regulate access to medical cannabis and grow the agriculture economy.
Following is an overview framework of the Community-Based Medical Cannabis Production
Pilot Project.
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Purpose
To provide a provincial medical cannabis program that meets patient’s needs first:
Presently there is a health care crisis in this country. Literally hundreds of thousands of
Canadians suffering from acute, chronic, and/or terminal medical conditions cannot get access to
the legal medicine that works for them… Cannabis Indica and Cannabis Sativa.
It is out of this dire necessity that since 1997 medical cannabis distribution organizations, known
as compassion clubs or dispensaries have arisen to bridge the gap between Health Canada and
the immediate needs of ill Canadians. These organizations may be either for profit businesses or
non-profit societies.
Different strains of Cannabis Sativa, Cannabis Indica, and crosses between the two sub-types
have different ratios of the therapeutic cannabinoids (tetrahydrocannabinol – THC, cannabidiol –
CBD, cannabinol – CBN, cannabichromene – CBG, cannabigerol – CBG) present in the cured
cannabis or related products like edibles (cookies, salad dressings, butter, juice), hash, or
cannabis oil. The new science in medical cannabis is showing that juicing the fan leaves of the
cannabis derives high quality medicine with no euphoric “high”. There are over 200 different
strains of cannabis with news hybrids created on an ongoing basis. It is important to have a wide
variety of strains available from both Cannabis Indica and Sativa to best address the different
needs of patients with different medical conditions and to accommodate their metabolic
differences. Many medical cannabis patients use a Sativa variety during the day for pain relief
that does not leave them tired or sleepy, and at night before bed an Indica variety to bring on
sleep and relax muscles.
Due to the Supreme Court of Canada Decision in July 2015 Health Canada does now allow the
creation of cannabis extracts, and related products.
By making the application process unnecessarily difficult, Health Canada is adversely affecting a
large number of seriously ill Canadians. How large a group is hard to estimate, but Dr. Mary
Lynch, President of the Canadian Pain Society, stated (Jacobs; Toronto Sun, 2010 August 30)
that as many as six million Canadians are currently suffering from chronic pain and are not being
treated properly. That is a staggering number but does not represent the total number of people
that could benefit from the use of medical cannabis.
City police and some RCMP districts tolerate medical cannabis dispensaries, which operate
without any legal protection from the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act. They take these
risks because they serve a legitimate compassionate purpose. Most medical cannabis dispensaries
do not support organized crime, recreational use, or re-selling cannabis to the wider community.
Dispensaries provide a needed community service while keeping patients safe and insulated from
the black market and its influences. Capler and Lucas (2006, pg. 5) provide an apt description of
the role played by dispensaries when they state “Based on a philosophy of harm reduction and
improved public health, compassion clubs effectively balance legal concerns around the criminal
prohibition of cannabis with a respect for the personal autonomy of individuals in making
important health care decisions. Currently, this balance entails engaging in civil disobedience
while striving to operate in a manner that addresses the concerns of all relevant stakeholders.”
7

Contact:
Joy Davies, Medical Cannabis Consultant
Cell: 604-910-8443
E: joydavies0@gmail.com

General Operating Standards of a Dispensary
By-laws and relevant codes:
Newly formed regional dispensaries will comply with all zoning requirements, by-laws, and
health and safety codes. The dispensaries are run in full compliance with labour standards and
full Workers Compensation Board employment and reporting requirements.
Community Relations:
The location will be in a place centrally and sensibly accessible to residents and those who will
make the trip from out of town areas. The facility will be discreet and clinical in décor and
appearance from the outside. Being clean and well lit both inside and out is very important for
positive relations with nearby businesses and the community at large. The dispensary will
provide and intake process and ongoing education process of cannabis use for medical purposes
to their their clients.
Staff Training and Experience:
Should the provinces decide to work with existing dispensaries existing personnel will continue
to run the dispensary outlet. Without pilot project status or equivalent legal protection, directors
and staff run the risk of being arrested and charged with trafficking in cannabis under the
Controlled Drugs and Substances Act.
Accessibility and Amenities:
The physical location of the dispensary should be wheelchair accessible and have a washroom on
site.
Security:
All exterior doors will have deadbolt locks and a monitored alarm system. A locking safe of
appropriate size and strength will be bolted to the floor or other immovable structure to store the
cannabis and related products.
Privacy and Confidentiality:
All directors, staff, volunteers, and consultants will sign non-disclosure and/or confidentiality
agreements. In addition the dispensary will act under the direction of a privacy policy. The
dispensary’s privacy policy is a legal document that explains what personal information the
dispensary needs, why they need it and how they will use and protect it.
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Criteria for Membership
Paperwork:
Patient membership forms will include general information on the basic history and medical uses
of cannabis, a dispensary introduction to physicians, a liability waiver (currently recommended
by the Canadian Medical Protective Association) to protect doctors, and a practitioners’
statement, which is completed by the treating provincially approved medical professionals,
stamped and faxed or emailed from their office. Before membership is granted, staff will verify
and complete paperwork.
Doctors and other Medical Professionals:
The dispensary will only accept clients for membership who have forms signed by provincially
approved medical practitioners including, but not limited to: licensed general practitioners,
specialists, naturopathic doctors, nurse practitioners, chiropractors/kinesiologists.
Illnesses and Conditions Eligible for Membership:
Conditions that have demonstrated an improvement in symptom and disease course through
peer-reviewed scientific studies will be considered. Each day as more studies are performed, the
list grows longer. A confirmation of the diagnosis of the condition or disease is required from the
signing medical professional. The following list is by no means exhaustive and may change to
reflect future research:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

ADHD
Arthritis
Cancer
Colitis
Epilepsy
Glaucoma
Irritable Bowel Syndrome
Multiple Sclerosis
Nausea – Chronic and Debilitating
Paraplegia/Quadriplegia,
Radiation Therapy
Sleep Disorders

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

AIDS/HIV
*Autism
Brain and Breast Tumours
Chemotherapy
Crohn’s Disease
Fibromyalgia
Hepatitis C
ALS/Lou Gehrig’s disease * Migraines
Muscular Dystrophy
Pain – Chronic
Parkinson’s Disease
Seizure Disorders
Substance Addiction and Withdrawal

In rare situations, the medical professional may not be comfortable signing the dispensary’s
form. If this is the case, the one-page practitioners’ statement of diagnosis should relieve the
physician of any concern. In these cases, the diagnosis can be simply written on a prescription
pad or on a form bearing the medical professional’s letterhead. Another option includes the client
signing a form releasing the relevant information from their medical file.
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Provincial User fees:
Patient’s in most Canadian provinces and territories are comfortable paying “user fees” for
various medical treatments. We suggest that a nominal user fee be applied for licensing patients
for medical cannabis use. As an example. The State of Oregon in 2009 charged low income
patients $20 for a 1 year license and patients above low income $100 for a one year license. The
accumulated user fees paid for the operating of the State of Oregon’s medical cannabis program.
Rules:
The licensed and regulated dispensary will not tolerate the re-selling of medical cannabis by a
member and is considered grounds for immediate revocation of membership. The dispensary
also expects that staff and clients will treat each other in a respectful manner. The dispensary
could be a retail outlet for the federally licensed producers.
Members Purchasing Cannabis:
Generally, the client must do all purchases of medical cannabis and related products in person. In
cases where clients who are too sick to leave the house, a designated care-giver may, with the
written consent of the client, pick up the medical cannabis for direct delivery to the client’s
location. For patients unable to go to a dispensary due to limitation of travel or illness, mail order
is available.
During an intake session, staff will introduce clients to all basic facts pertaining to cannabis,
cannabinoids, and their medical value across a wide range of illness and conditions, proper
dosage, common side effects, safe use. Staff will track individual client purchases to ensure
superior patient care to evaluate which strains work best for their individual needs. This
collection of data may be shared with the patient’s medical professional with written consent of
the patient. This system can be connected to the provinces’ existing Pharmacare system.
Clients must show their membership cards at each appointment and if staff is unfamiliar with
them, they may be asked for secondary picture identification.
To eliminate community fears of impaired driving, the dispensary will not allow any cannabis
product to be consumed onsite.
Purchasing Whole Cannabis from Growers:
To address the major concerns of local law enforcement (Royal Canadian Mounted Police,
Canada Border Services Agency, and the U.S. Customs and Border Protection) and the
community, the dispensary proposes to obtain its supply of whole cannabis from provincially
approved and regulated contracted local growers.
A prospective grower will need to pass an interview and site inspection in order to be awarded a
contract. The contract will include a predetermined amount of a specific strain. The grower may
be allowed to grow multiple strains. The grower will be required to display their annual contract
at their site.
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Random site inspections will focus on cleanliness; type of nutrients used in growing, and plant
count. If serious contaminants like moulds, yeasts, mildews, fungi, pesticides or heavy metals are
detected the contract may be voided.
To ensure that members receive only the highest quality cannabis the dispensary will required to
send the whole plant to a lab for contaminant and content testing.
Whole cannabis prices may range from $4.00 to $7.00 per gram. Again, based on the
dispensary’s business plan and expenses these prices may change with realities of doing
business.
Purchasing Cannabis Products:
Cannabis products offered will include leaves for juicing or frozen juice, edibles such as cookies,
brownies, lozenges, infused butter, infused olive or hemp oil, alcohol and/or glycerine based
tinctures and products clients can cook with, smoke, or vaporize like hash and cannabis oil.
Producers of edible products will be subjected to the same interview process and site inspection
as the growers, and, in addition must retain current provincial government food-safety
certification.
Working With Patients Who Grow Their Own Medicine:
Some patients may choose to grow their own medicinal gardens or have a trusted family member
or friend grow their medicine for them. There are four (4) primary varieties/families/classes of
cannabis: Cannabis Indica, Cannabis Sativa, C-Afganica and Ruderalis. All 4 regional varieties
have countless hybrids of cross genetics. Ruderalis traditionally has been known as ditch weed.
This said, in the past decade Ruderalis has been used more and more for stabilizing strains
for regional outdoors. Ruderalis is the only variety that grows naturally all around the
world. From these 4 families are thousands of different hybrid strains of cannabis being
developed and used for specific medical purposes resulting in the need to ensure patients can
grow their specific stains. There are currently both plant clones and seeds to grow various
strains from. Some patients have years invested in developing these strains that accommodate
their medical needs. Patients that do grow may do so both to ensure that they have an effective
strain and/or they do not have the ability to pay for the medication. New science is showing that
juicing the fan leaves of the cannabis plant provide excellent medicine with no euphoric “high”.
It is anticipated that many new patients may choose to grow their medicine so they can juice.
Based on current prices a patient using 10 grams of cannabis per day may grow their medication
for approximately $300 per month. If they had to purchase the same amount from either a
federally Licensed Producer or a medical cannabis dispensary that cost would increase to $3000
plus per month. Patients using cannabis for MS, for example, can use over 50 grams per day.
Preferred consumption of cannabis for medicinal use is often in the preparation of oils, baked
goods, teas, suppositories, etc. which requires large quantities of the plant material. One can see
the importance of ensuring patients ability to grow their medicine. Also, the federal government
changes under the MMPR stipulate that those contracted to them must radiate the medicine.
There is no scientific evidence at this time that shows what radiation does to the human
body therefore no thinking patient wants to put radiated plant material in their bodies. It
remains imperative for the well being and safety of patients that they be allowed to continue to
grow their own medication.
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"Today’s patients distrust many aspects of the healthcare system—the regulators, the medical
gatekeepers, the drug producers—and grow continually more resolved to take charge of their
own treatment
”…Nicolas Brody/The Rise of the Empowered Patient,/Scientific American, 09/24/2010
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Pilot Project Operations
Membership Criteria and Processing
With the provincial government licensing and overseeing the production and distribution of
medical cannabis and related products, including already permitted home-based patients and
producers, it would make sense to use existing facilities such as ServiceBC, (in British
Columbia) to issue legal license to possess, use, or home-produce medical cannabis under this
project. This would see a person suffering from a medical condition helped by cannabis get
appropriate Provincial Ministry of Health forms signed by their medical professional then go
immediately to designated provincial government office where the clerk would stamp the
paperwork and issue a copy to the applicant then send the rest to Health Canada for filing. This
person would be legal to possess, use, and produce at home, or purchase cannabis via a
compassion society/club from the moment the paperwork is stamped by the clerk at designated
provincial government office, significantly speeding up the process whereby patients get
immediate dignified access to their medicine as they do with pharmaceutical prescription
medications.
The success of this regional model will streamline the application process, the production
process, and the distribution process of medical cannabis and related products and provide access
to patients living in the other regions of the province/Canada.
The success of this regional model will also legitimize dispensaries through licensing with the
provincial government, regulating the dispensaries already in existence without interrupting the
flow of medicine to the clients.
Purchasing Cannabis from Licensed Growers:
The dispensary or federally licensed producer will either contract growers who become members
of their Regional Agricultural Society or grow their own cannabis for distribution. Any person
interested in growing for this project would have to be experienced in commercial cannabis crop
production. These potential growers would then make application to the Federal Ministry of
Health, via the designated provincial government office, as designated commercial producers
and submit to a criminal record check, interview, and site inspection by Provincial Health
Inspectors or other provincially designated staff. ( If an applicant has a criminal record due to
cannabis related non-organized crime charges an exception could be made and they could be
approved as a grower) As a necessary condition of being offered a contract to produce cannabis
the member grower must have the facilities to completely process and cure the cannabis on site.
Both indoor and outdoor crops will be grown using organic nutrients under appropriate security
conditions utilizing fences, monitored alarms, and discreet design. Each contracted grower will
have a maximum plant count to abide by as well as a maximum production weight of dried
cannabis. This ensures no diversion of the cannabis to the black market. The contract will set a
standard price for the grower enabling the dispensary to offer dried whole cannabis to clients for
about $100.00 per ounce (approximately 28.5 grams). A significant savings from what even the
best-intended dispensaries offer now ($250-$300 per ounce). Should the provinces cover the cost
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of their medication to patients, one may see an increase due to the realities of business expenses.
All dollar figures in this proposal are subject to change.
Samples of all contracted cannabis will be sent to a lab for testing of both cannabinoid profile
and for contaminants. This will enable clients to find the strain and associated cannabinoid ratios
contained in the strain that help their condition the most while protecting their health from
threats like mould, fungi, and heavy metals.
Cannabis Edibles and Related Products:
For other cannabis products, such as hashish and cannabis oil, the dispensary would find licensed
local producers through an application process.
Contracted commercial food preparation experts will produce all edible cannabis products using
the cannabis produced by the licensed growers. The facilities will be a commercial food
preparation area that has passed provincial health inspection. Since the cannabis has already been
lab tested for cannabinoid profile and contaminants, specific strains of indica or sativa can be
incorporated into baked goods, which is important for a patient to know before consuming. As an
example most clients would not be comfortable eating a sugar cookie made with a sativa or
sativa dominate strain as its stimulating properties could interfere with sleep.
Each producer of edible or non-vaporized, smokable cannabis products will, as the growers are,
be subject to random inspection of their facilities focusing on cleanliness, security, and the
amount of whole cannabis and cannabis products on hand. The same Provincial Health
Inspectors that cover the growers of cannabis may do these inspections.
The finished cannabis products will be sampled and sent to the lab for final testing for
cannabinoid profile and contaminants. As, again, it is imperative to make sure the client knows
how much tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) and how much cannabidiol (CBD) they are getting.
Hash can be made in a non-toxic environment with the proper equipment and experience. The
provinces could develop a certified training course in the production of hash as a way of helping
to create qualified producers and create local jobs.
The extraction of cannabinoids (THC, CBD, CBG, CBC, and CBN) into oil generally involves a
variety of methods including the use of a flammable solvent like butane or isopropanol alcohol,
so great care must be taken. The dispensary will only contract with chemists and lab-techs with
access to a commercial level lab to create oil from locally grown cannabis approved by Health
Canada.
Samples of all batches of hashish and cannabis oil will be sent to an approved lab for a
cannabinoid profile and contaminant testing.
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Pilot Project Benefits
This proposed method of provincially regulated medical cannabis production and distribution
takes significant pressure off and, saves enormous resources for, the federal government.
A critical need, that must be met at all costs, is to ensure legitimate patients have timely, safe,
legal, local, dignified access to medical cannabis and have the ability to grow their medical
gardens should they choose to do so.
As all Canadian provinces grapple with the increasing costs of healthcare for the aging babyboomers, Dube, from Statistics Canada (2006. pg 6), offers some sobering facts:
“It is a well-known fact that senior citizens have greater health needs than younger people. The
prevalence of chronic illness, activity limitations, and disabilities correlates with age, and so is
the use of prescription and over-the-counter drugs.”
“Canada’s senior population has been growing faster than the population of any other age group
in recent years. At present, more than one person in 10 is aged 65 or older. According to
Statistics Canada’s projections, the proportion of elderly is destined to almost double in the
next 25 years. The elderly would account for almost 25% of the population in 2031.”
One of the ways to ease the financial burden on the provinces’ ever-increasing health care
spending is with medical cannabis being more readily available to treat those who would truly
benefit. A wide variety of medical patients are able to reduce the number of prescription drugs
they need to take when they have adequate amounts of the right kind of cannabis, in the right
form for their needs. This has the potential to save money as we head towards a time in the next
21 years where 25% of the national population will be retired and in some need of expensive
medical care. In addition, patients who choose cannabis as part of their medical regime appear to
have fewer doctor appointments and hospital visits. Again, lowering the provincial health care
budget. A plant that grows in most world climates, and produces therapeutically active molecules
that treat such a wide array of illnesses and conditions can and should be regionally produced by
the provinces to help reduce their spending on prescription drugs.
All these categories are areas in which medical cannabis can help ease pain and other symptoms
without the high financial cost of spending on multiple prescriptions. In particular, there has been
recent scientific evidence of the use of smoked cannabis in treating neuropathic pain. Ware et al
(October 5, 2010, pg. 694) found that “A single inhalation of 25 mg of 9.4%
tetrahydrocannabinol herbal cannabis three times daily for five days reduced the intensity of
pain, improved sleep, and was well tolerated.” Considering how many seniors, and other
members of the population, are suffering with some form of chronic pain, it makes sense to
pursue an inexpensive, relatively safer herbal alternative to high-cost, chemical pain medication.
Reducing the cost of prescription drug spending to provincial governments nation-wide is a
major benefit that a regional model of medical cannabis production and distribution provides.
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Conclusion
Each province has the opportunity to become a leader in Canada by creating a provincially
designed program of regulations, legislation and a system to provide safe, dignified, local
access to medical cannabis to patients.
THE GOAL: To provide dignified access to high quality medical cannabis to Canadians for
whom the medicine is needed, beneficial or preferred. This medicine is used to improve the
quality of life for patients and, in part, improve the provincial health care system.
BARRIERS:
• Federal level bureaucratic processes, protocols, expense, supply system and demands
eclipse patient needs, access and reality.
THE SOLUTIONS:
• Design a specific program involving a partnership between local, provincial and federal
governments; patients, medical practitioners, law enforcement.
• Produce and implement legislation and regulations allowing the use of existing and new
cannabis licensed dispensaries currently named “Compassion Clubs” as well as federally
Licensed Producers for provision of patient information and distribution of medical cannabis.
• Regulate commercial production of dried cannabis and related medicinal cannabis in any of
the forms of oils, tinctures, baked products, hash, lozenges, etc.
• Ensure regular inspection of growing facilities of a commercial size.
• Ensure patients maintain the ability to grow their own medicine, and/or designate a grower
to provide the specific strain of cannabis needed to relieve symptoms of their illness.
• Ensure that the careful selection of provincially licensed growers, are restricted to volume
quotas to deter the possibility of collusion and/or cartels which will discourage the criminal
element from becoming involved.
• Consult with existing long term compassion clubs/dispensaries that are knowledgeable and
sensitive to the patients needs, and for advice about the development of contracts for growers
and producers.
• Ensure that the approval and delivery process allows immediate access for the patient (and/or
their designated support person, care provider or Power of Attorney designate in vies of nonterminal patients with severe disabilities and chronic diseases) to obtain the cannabis
medication as they currently do for all pharmaceutical medications.
• Enable a variety of health care professionals, (e.g. nurse practitioners, naturopaths,
chiropractors, or other provincially approved health care practitioners) as well as physicians
to have the ability to prescribe cannabis for their patients.
• Have cannabis costs covered by MSP as a health expenditure.
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•

Ensure the health care provider community and relevant government staff are thoroughly
educated in indications/contraindications/precautions for use of medical cannabis types
and the proper uses of cannabis and it's many forms or choice of ingestion.

I look forward to assisting the pilot communities becoming operational and serving the needs of
the large and diverse client group of suffering and ill residents. Currently, rural patients with
their doctor’s permission to use cannabis must wait long periods of time to gain access to their
medicine. The proposed federal government changes could mean approximately 30% of existing
patients may not be able to afford the recommended prices (Source: Page 12: Cost-Benefit Analysis of

Regulatory Changes for Access to Marihuana for Medical Purposes/ Prepared by:David Stambrook, Senior
Economist, Delsys Research Group Inc.Derek Ireland, Ph.D., Senior Economist, Delsys Research Group Inc.Wei
Xie, Senior Policy Analyst, Delsys Research Group Inc./December 2012 ) This means many will turn to the

black market for their medicine, which has patients rubbing shoulders with drug dealers who
often sell more than cannabis. The cannabis available on the black market is often contaminated
from bad growing practices and unsanitary harvesting/handling in addition to being overpriced.
Purchasing black market cannabis is not only illegal, it is potentially related to organized crime,
and the medical patient has no reassurance of the quality or strain of the plant.
Operating in this manner will enable the pilot community to immediately address the issue of
access to quality medical cannabis for the medical patients. The pilot project will also
demonstrate how to achieve a sustainable model of regional medical cannabis production and
distribution. This is ideal as the provinces and territories are already in charge of administering
health care, and through this entrenched model of policy enactment, it makes sense to place
medical cannabis in this system.
As a medical first, this pilot project will demonstrate improved patient access at affordable prices
to medical cannabis and patient applications to Health Canada. It will also reinvest profit back
into the local economy creating self-sustaining, profitable local green industry that serves the
needs of diverse medical patients and decreases the general strain on the health care industry. It
will, through regulations create local jobs and new provincial revenue.
A major area of focus for provincial and territorial governments in the coming years will be in
finding ways to save money on health care spending. In this time of global economic uncertainty,
the provincial and federal governments of Canada face a growing population of senior citizens
with increasing medical costs related to expensive prescription drug therapies. Provincial health
agencies should consider utilizing medical cannabis as an herbal, non-toxic alternative reducing
the prescription drug budget.
It is strongly recommended that the provincial governments consider working with this proposed
pilot project for the production and distribution of medical cannabis and related products. It is
time to bring a safe, reliable, and affordable supply of cannabis medicine to the suffering, with
the resultant spin-off benefits to local communities.
Through this project, there is hope to get closer to the eventual goal of bringing in the currently
operating compassion dispensaries out of the cold. Regulating those industry experts and
including them in the process is the best way forward for patients, distributors, and producers
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alike. There is no need to re-invent the wheel when it comes to this workable model of serving
patients in need of medical cannabis, simply legitimize what works and develop a best practices
industry standard. It is time to regulate this developing medical industry before it grows any
larger.

References:
Lucas, P (2012) Cannabis as a Substitute for AOD - Lucas 2012
Amanda Fielding: Cannabis Policy-Moving beyond the Stalemate
http://www.huffingtonpost.com/amanda-feilding/cannabis-policy-moving-be_b_473281.html,
February 23, 2010
Capler, R., Lucas, P. (2006). “Guidelines for the community-based distribution of medical
cannabis in Canada.”
Dube, Guillauime. (September 2006). “Competing for the retail drug market.” Statistics Canada:
Distributive Trades Division. Catalogue No: 11-621-MIE2006048. pgs. 1-10.
Jacobs, M. “Our drug priorities need to change.” Toronto Sun. August 31, 2010.
Lucas, P. (2008). “Regulating compassion: an overview of Canada’s federal medical cannabis
policy and practice.” Harm Reduction Journal 2008, 5:5.
Morgan, S., Agnew, J., Barer, M. (June 2004). “Senior’s prescription drug cost inflation and cost
containment: evidence from B.C.” Health Policy Journal. Vol. 68, Issue 3, Pgs. 299-307.
Nolin, P.C., Kenny, C., Banks, T., Maheu, S., Rossiter, E: Report of the Senate Special
Committee on Illegal Drugs. Ottawa: Senate of Canada; 2002.
Therapeutics Initiative: Evidence Based Drug Therapy. (November – December 2008).
“Prescription drug costs: BC versus Canada.” Issue 72. Pgs 1-2.
The Report of the Canadian Government Commission of Inquiry into the Non-Medical Use of
Drugs – 1972. Ottawa: Information Canada.
Ware, M. et al (October 5, 2010). “Smoked cannabis for chronic neuropathic pain: a randomized
controlled trial.” Canadian Medical Association Journal. 182 (14), pgs. 694-701.
Armentano, P. (2011). Emerging clinical applications for cannabis and cannabinoids: A review
of the recent scientific literature, fourth edition. National Organization for the Reform of
Marijuana Laws (NORML). Washington DC. Pgs. 1-57.

Contact:
Cell: 604-910-8443
E: joydavies0@gmail.com
2015 Federal Liberal Candidate, South Surrey-White Rock BC

